

# Plugin Reference Guide1

(Release 3.0)



#### © 2021 Automation Edge Technologies Inc All rights reserved

Information used in this document is subject to change without notice. Companies, names, and data used in the examples herein are fictitious unless otherwise noted. No part of this document can be reproduced or transmitted in any format, by any means, electronic or mechanical, for any purpose without permission of AutomationEdge Technologies.



# **Plugins Compatibility**

• Plugins in Release 3.0 are compatible with AutomationEdge Release 6.0.0 onwards.

# **Plugins Technical Reference**

AutomationEdge Plugins technical reference includes three guides,

- AutomationEdge\_R3.0\_Plugin\_Reference\_Guide1
- AutomationEdge\_R3.0\_Plugin\_Reference\_Guide2
- AutomationEdge\_R3.0\_Plugin\_Reference\_Guide3



# Contents

Ι.	Wo	rkflow Steps	7
1	GU	I Automation	8
	1.1	Close Web Window	10
	1.2	Element Action	10
	1.3	Exit Browser	13
	1.4	Get Current Window Title	14
	1.5	Get Value	15
	1.6	Inject Java Script	17
	1.7	Launch Application	18
	1.8	Mouse Action	20
	1.9	Set Value	23
	1.10	Start Browser	25
	1.11	Web Actions	28
	1.12	Web Alert	
	1.13	Web Click	32
	1.14	Web Composite	33
	1.15	Web Download Image	
	1.16	Web Dropdown Selection	
	1.17	Web Element Condition	
	1.18	Web File Upload	41
	1.19	Web Get Value	42
	1.20	Web Loop Table	43
	1.21	Web Page Scroll	47
	1.22	Web Set Delay	49
	1.23	Web Set Retry Count	49
	1.24	Web Set Value	50
	1.25	Web Switch Frame	52
	1.26	Web Switch Window	54
	1.27	Web Table	56



1.28	Web URL Navigation	58
1.29	Web Wait Until	59
1.30	Windows Action	60
1.31	Get Table Data [Beta]	62
2 De	sktop	65
2.1	Desktop Click	68
2.2	Desktop Close	68
2.3	Desktop Highlight	69
2.4	Desktop MouseAction	70
2.5	Desktop Open	70
2.6	Desktop Read	71
2.7	Desktop Start	72
2.8	Desktop Stop	73
2.9	Desktop Utilities	73
2.10	Desktop WaitUntil	74
2.11	Desktop Write	76
3 Su	rface	77
3.1	Surface Click	78
3.2	Surface Find Image	79
3.3	Surface Get Value	
3.4	Surface Set Value	81
IV. Ap	pendices	83
1 Ap	pendix 1: Error Handling in IT Plugins	84
2 Δn	nendix 2: GUI Spy Tutorial	86
2.1		٥٥
2.2		
2.3		
2.4		
2.5	GUI Spy for Web	



2.6	GUI Spy for Windows			
2.7	GUI Spy Limitations and Known Issues	117		
2.8	GUI Spy for Windows Best practices	118		
2.9	GUI Spy Workarounds	119		
3 Ap	pendix 3: Desktop Spy Tutorial			
3.1	Introduction			
3.2	Prerequisites			
3.3	Setup			
3.4	Start using Desktop Spy			
4 Ap	pendix 4: Surface Spy Tutorial			
4.1	Introduction			
4.2	Start Using Surface Spy			
4.3	Close Surface Spy			
Contac	Contact143			



# I. Workflow Steps



# **1 GUI Automation**

GUI Automation plugin steps are used for automation of web and windows applications, on Windows and Linux based OS.

The following browser versions are supported for GUI Automation/GUI Spy in Release 3.0.

Browser Support	OS	Chrome*	Firefox	IE
Release 3.0	Windows	75 to 91	83 to 89	8 to11
	Linux	80 to 91	83 to 89	-

\*Chrome Drivers are available on EPD. Download the required version and the System Administrator can upload it via File Management menu, on AutomationEdge Server.

#### Steps to configure Chrome driver:

Upload the latest browser drivers for GUI Automation plugin as follows,

- i. Upload the latest browser drivers (e.g. <CHROME<VERSION>.zip>) for GUI Automation Plugin - using Plugin Management on AutomationEdge UI. (Refer section - File Management in
  - AutomationEdge\_System\_Administrator\_Guide\_R6.0.0).
- ii. Once uploaded the driver is available for both Process Studio and Agent. For Process Studio, additionally, perform Plugin Sync operation so that the drivers are available for automation.

#### **GUI Spy**

GUI Spy is used to build workflows with GUI Automation plugin steps for web and windows applications.

The GUI Spy pop-up window gives options to operate in Web, Windows or Web + Windows modes.

GUI Spy		$\times$
Automate	✓ <u>W</u> eb ✓ <u>W</u> indows	
URL	https://www.google.com	
Browser	Google Chrome V	
	Find windows element indices.	
	<u>(</u>	<u>3</u> 0

<sup>© 2021</sup> AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.



#### **References:**

For a description on how to use GUI Spy refer to Appendix 2: GUI Spy Tutorial

For sample workflows refer to,

- Project 8: GUI Spy for Web Applications
- Project 8: GUI Spy Recorder
- Project 8: GUI Spy for Windows Applications

in the AutomationEdge\_R7.0.0\_ProcesStudio\_Activity\_Guide.

#### Compatibility:

• Windows 7/8.1/10, Windows Server 2008/2012/2016

#### **Prerequisites:**

• Microsoft .NET Framework 4.5 or above

#### Check Plugin Support:

- You may check if your target application elements are supported by Windows Application GUI Plugin steps.
- Verify the target application elements against "Accessibility Insights for Windows" application.
- You may check only for Element accessibility. Choose criterion Element from the drop down list as seen in the image below



 Get more details in the following video, <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=BIu9ONdMGGg</u>

#### Notes:

- Use GUI Spy to build a workflow with GUI Automation plugin steps for Windows. Refer to Appendix 2: GUI Spy Tutorial (including best practices/workarounds).
- AutomationEdge Workflows with GUI Automation Windows steps should be marked Sequential.



Following are the Plugin steps,

#### 1.1 Close Web Window

#### 1.1.1 Description

The Close Web Window step closes the current browser window in GUI Automation.

#### 1.1.2 Configurations

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Web Browser Name	You can select any one Web Browser Name from the given list, Basically you must select the same Web Browser Name which was selected in Start Browser Step.

No.	Common Buttons	
1	Help	Click to see the Plugin description and configuration details.
2	ОК	Click OK button to accept configurations.
3	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.

#### **1.2 Element Action**

#### 1.2.1 Description

Windows: Element Action step performs an action on the specified element (based on the Element Property chosen).

#### 1.2.2 Configurations

	0	
No.	Field Name	Description
1	Step Name	Name of the step. This name has to be unique in a single workflow.
2	ActionType	<ul><li>Possible Action Types are,</li><li>Get Property Value</li></ul>

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



		Wait Until (some condition (element property value) is satisfied).
3	Windows Path	Windows Path is the relative path of the desktop application on which element exists. It is captured by Windows Spy in the Generate Step dialog. It is then populated in the step configuration upon Step Generation. You may also enter or modify Windows path manually on the 'Step Generation' window or step configuration.
		Windows path may be provided as a String or regex. Sample of Windows Path as string: w[Desktop]/w[Application Name]
		Sample of Windows Path as regex: w[Desktop]/w[/Application N/], w[Desktop]/w[/Application .*/], If you are providing partial application name then put it as a regex between / and /. Also if the Application name changes dynamically it is a good idea to provide it as a regex.
4	Criteria	'Criteria' is the criterion to locate element on Windows Desktop. It is captured by Windows Spy in the Generate Step dialog. Upon Step Generation it is populated in the step configuration. You may change criteria by choosing from the drop down list in 'Step Generation' window or step configuration.
		Note: It is similar as in GUI Automation plugin steps.
5	Criteria Value	Specify relevant criteria value for the criteria provided above.
6	Element index(Starts with 0)	For Multiple elements with same criteria, specify index of the element you want to locate. Provide index 0 if you want first element from the located elements, increment index by 1 for the next elements.
7	Element Property	<ul> <li>The possible Element Properties are as follows,</li> <li>Is Exist – for all elements,</li> <li>Is Checked – for checkbox,</li> <li>Is Visible – for all elements,</li> <li>Is Enable – for all elements,</li> <li>Is Selected – for all elements but specifically designed for radio button</li> </ul>



		<ul> <li>Is Checked Element Property is not supported for Radio button elements.</li> <li>With element property – Is Exist or Is Visible avoid 'Absolute Path' criteria.</li> <li>In a workflow it is recommended to first check if element exists (Wait Until – Is Exist) followed by Get Property Values steps.</li> </ul>
8	Reverse above Element Property Condition	Enable checkbox to reverse the Element Property chosen above.
	Dynamic fields:	
9	Output Field	This field is visible if Get Property Value is chosen in Action Type. Specify an output field name to hold the output of step execution (The output is True/False).
10	Timeout (In Seconds)	This field is visible if Wait Until is chosen in Action Type. Specify a Timeout value for the Element Property chosen.

Com	Common Buttons:			
No.	Field Name	Description		
	Buttons:			
1	ОК	On click of this button field values are checked. If any required field values are missing then validation error message is displayed.		
		field values.		
2	Cancel	Click this button to cancel the window without saving any values.		
3	Button: Edit Element	Click Edit Element to start spying and change step details as desired. Opening spy from step is restricted to the scope of the step. i.e. Only relevant elements are detected with active spy. Use Hotkeys ('Shift' or '~') to detect the element. We may call it as a 'Step Restricted Spy' for understanding purposes. e.g. Suppose spy is started from 'Element Action' step. Now spy is restricted to elements that support 'Element Action'. All elements that support 'Element Action' will be highlighted in blue color and the rest will be highlighted in 'Red' color upon hover. Notice Step dropdown is disabled and value selected is 'Element Action'		



#### 1.3 Exit Browser

#### 1.3.1 Description

The Exit Browser step explicitly closes the entire browser session for the driver specified in the GUI Automation.

Note: When a GUI Automation workflow is run on an agent the entire browser session implicitly closes after the end of the workflow even if Exit browser is not put at the end of the workflow.

However, When a GUI Automation workflow is run from Process Studio the entire browser session does not close implicitly.

Browser terminates abnormally then you need to clear browser driver instance before you can start a new browser. Navigate to Tools  $\rightarrow$  Clear All Browser Instances as shown below.



#### 1.3.2 Configurations

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Web Browser Name	You can select any one Web Browser Name from the given list, Basically you must select the same Web Browser Name which was selected in Start Browser Step.

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



No.	Common Buttons	
1	Help	Click to see the Plugin description and configuration details.
2	ОК	Click OK button to accept configurations.
3	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.

#### 1.4 Get Current Window Title

#### 1.4.1 Description

The Get Current Window Title GUI Automation plugin step gets the title of the current browser window.

#### 1.4.2 Configurations

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Step Name	Name of the step. This name has to be unique in a single workflow.
2	Web Browser Name	You can select any one Web Browser Name from the given list (BROWSER1, BROWSER1). You must select the same Web Browser Name which was selected in Start Browser Step.
3	Window title field	Specify a fieldname to hold the retrieved Window Title. The default value is windowTitle.

No.	Common Buttons	
1	Help	Click to see the Plugin description and configuration details.
2	ОК	Click OK button to accept configurations.
3	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



#### 1.5 Get Value

#### 1.5.1 Description

Windows: Get Value plugin step gets value of element type textbox.

#### 1.5.2 Configurations

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Step Name	Name of the step. This name has to be unique in a single workflow.

Rea	Read Parameters Tab:		
No.	Field Name	Description	
1	Tabular Columns:		
i	Windows Path	<ul> <li>Windows Path is the relative path of the desktop application on which element exists. It is captured by Windows Spy in the Generate Step dialog. It is then populated in the step configuration upon Step Generation. You may also enter or modify Windows path manually on the 'Step Generation' window or step configuration.</li> <li>Windows path may be provided as a String or regex.</li> </ul>	
		Sample of Windows Path as string: w[Desktop]/w[Application Name] or Sample of Windows Path as regex: w[Desktop]/w[/Application N/], w[Desktop]/w[/Application .*/], If you are putting partial application name then put ii as a regex between / and /. Also if the Application name changes dynamically it is a good idea to provide it as a regex.	
ii	Criteria	<ul> <li>'Criteria' is the criterion to locate element on Windows Desktop.</li> <li>It is captured by Windows Spy in the Generate Step dialog.</li> <li>Upon Step Generation it is populated in the step configuration.</li> <li>You may change criteria by choosing from the drop down list in</li> <li>'Step Generation' window or step configuration.</li> <li>Note: It is similar as in GUI Automation plugin steps.</li> </ul>	
iii	Criteria Value	Specify relevant criteria value for the criteria provided above.	

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



iv	Element index(Starts with 0)	For Multiple elements with same criteria, specify index of the element you want to locate. Provide index 0 if you want first element from the located elements, increment index by 1 for the next elements.
V	Read Type	<ul> <li>Choose a Read Types from the drop down list,</li> <li>'Value' –from text box or</li> <li>'Text' -from label</li> <li>Note: Get value is not applicable to encrypted values like password fields.</li> </ul>
vi	Output field name	Specify an Output field to hold the value of the textbox element.
2	Timeout(In seconds)	Specify a Timeout to find the element on the Desktop application.

Com	Common Buttons:		
No.	Field Name	Description	
	Buttons:		
1	ОК	On click of this button field values are checked. If any required field values are missing then validation error message is displayed.	
		If all the required field values are provided then it will save the field values.	
2	Cancel	Click this button to cancel the window without saving any values.	
3	Edit Element	Click Edit Element to start spying. Opening spy from step is restricted to the step, i.e. Only relevant elements are detected from active spy. Use Hotkeys to detect the element ('Shift' or '~'). We may call it as a 'Step Restricted Spy' for understanding purposes. E.g. Suppose spy is started from 'Get Value' step. Now spy is restricted to elements that support 'Get Value'. All elements that are supported will be highlighted in blue color and others will be highlighted in 'Red' color upon hover. Step dropdown is disabled and value selected is 'Get Value'.	



#### 1.6 Inject Java Script

#### 1.6.1 Description

Inject java Script is used to inject java script in a GUI automation workflow. Sometimes web control with web locators doesn't react well as is unable to perform the action. At such times this step can be very useful to perform web actions.

Inject Java Script automatically gets the web handle for the Web Browser chosen in Web Browser Name selection which is not available automatically in other scripting steps.

No.	Field Name	Description	
1	Web Browser Name	You can select any one Web Browser Name from the given list, Basically you must select the same Web Browser Name which was selected in Start Browser Step. Inject Java Script automatically gets web handle from the selection.	
	Left Pane:		
2	Get Input Fields	By clicking on this it will give a list of all input fields that can be used as a part of Inject Java Script.	
	Code Snippets:		
3	Sample Code	Double click Sample Code to populate sample code in the Inject Java Script right hand pane. Here you will find an example to make fields available to next step.	
		Partial pseudo code for making multiple fields available to next step,	
		<pre>var FieldValue = "FieldValue";</pre>	
		<pre>var FieldName2 = "FieldName2"; var FieldValue2 = "FieldValue2";</pre>	
		<pre>return "&lt;&lt;&gt;&gt;"+FieldName+"::"+FieldValue+"&lt;&lt;&gt;&gt;;&lt;&lt;&gt;&gt;"+FieldName2+"::"+FieldValue2+"&lt;&lt;&gt;&gt;";</pre>	
	Right Pane:		
4	Inject Java	Write the Java Script in the space provided.	
	Script	Following, is a sample Java Script showing how to set value and click a button.	

#### 1.6.2 Configurations

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.





In this case the code sets values of username and password and clicks a login button.
var chkPrint = document.getElementsByName('uid')[0].value = "mngr169997";
document.getElementsByName('password')[0].value = "YvynEtA";
document.getElementsByName('btnLogin')[0].click();

No.	Common Buttons	
1	Help	Click to see the Plugin description and configuration details.
2	ОК	Click OK button to accept configurations.
3	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.

#### 1.7 Launch Application

#### 1.7.1 Description

Windows Application GUI: Launch Application plugin step starts new application at runtime.

#### 1.7.2 Configurations

Input	nput Tab:		
No.	Field Name	Description	
1	Step Name	Name of the step. This name has to be unique in a single workflow.	
2	Path of Application	Specify the full path (including full path and filename with extention) of an application to launch.	
3	Button: Browse	Click the button to browse the Application path.	
4	Checkbox: Fail if error occurs	Enable checkbox to enable the Properties for application validation below.	
	Properties for validation:	The following fields are enabled only if 'Fail if error occurs' checkbox is enabled. Provide values in the fields below to be validated.	
5	Windows Path/Title	<ul> <li>Windows Path and Title are explained below,</li> <li>Windows Path is the relative path of the desktop application on which element exists. Enter Windows path manually in Step Configuration.</li> </ul>	

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



		<ul> <li>Windows path may be provided as a String or regex. Sample of Windows Path as string: w[Desktop]/w[Application Name] or Sample of Windows Path as regex: w[Desktop]/w[/Application N/], w[Desktop]/w[/Application .*/], If you are putting partial application name then put ii as a regex between / and /. Also if the Application name changes dynamically it is a good idea to provide it as a regex.</li> <li>Window Title is the title of the Windows Application. (i.e. Application Name)</li> <li>Note:</li> <li>When specifying 'Window Path/Title' make sure that no other application, window or folder with the same title is open, else it may lead to confusion at runtime.</li> <li>If you get an error like "Window is not available or not loaded in specified time", make sure that the Windows Path/Title, Path and application startup time are correctly specified.</li> </ul>
6	Application startup time (Minutes)	Specify a waiting period in minutes for application startup as specified in the Windows Path/Title above. Note: You may manually check time taken by the application to load and come up with a better approximation of Application startup time.
7	Checkbox: close application on failure	You may enable this checkbox to close the application if the validations above are not successful.

Com	Common Buttons:		
No.	Field Name	Description	
	Buttons:		
1	ОК	On click of this button field values are checked. If any required field values are missing, then validation error message is displayed. If all the required field values are provided then it will save the field values.	



2	Cancel	Click this button to cancel the window without saving any
		values.

#### 1.8 Mouse Action

Windows Application GUI: Mouse Action plugin step performs simple mouse actions such as hover, click etc. to complex operations such as drag and drop.

#### 1.8.1 Configurations

Input Tab: No. Field Name Description Step Name 1 Name of the step. This name has to be unique in a single workflow. 2 Action Type Select an Action Type from the list below, Action Type Click Click Expand Collapse Double Click Drag Drop Hover Right Click Select Scroll Toggle Hover, Click, Double Click, Right Click actions are available • with all element types. Expand, Collapse are useful for tree items, Dropdown element. In case expand is not available you may use Click Action Type. Toggle is useful for setting value to checkbox. • Scroll option is available for scrollable elements. • You need to detect the immediate window containing the scroll bar, possibly by hovering on the intersection of the right and bottom scroll bars as marked in yellow below.

		<ul> <li>If Action type is Drag Drop first Spy the Source Element and generate step. In the step click on any field in the Target Element and click Edit Destination Element button to spy the destination element.</li> </ul>
	Source Element:	
3	Windows Path	Windows Path is the relative path of the desktop application on which element exists. It is captured by Windows Spy in the Generate Step dialog. It is then populated in the step configuration upon Step Generation. You may also enter or modify Windows path manually on the 'Step Generation' window or step configuration. Windows path may be provided as a String or regex. Sample of Windows Path as string: w[Desktop]/w[Application Name] or Sample of Windows Path as regex: w[Desktop]/w[/Application N/], w[Desktop]/w[/Application .*/], If you are putting partial application name then put ii as a regex between / and /. Also if the Application name changes dynamically it is a good idea to provide it as a regex.
4	Criteria	<ul> <li>'Criteria' is the criterion to locate element on Windows Desktop.</li> <li>It is captured by Windows Spy in the Generate Step dialog.</li> <li>Upon Step Generation it is populated in the step configuration.</li> <li>You may change criteria by choosing from the drop down list in</li> <li>'Step Generation' window or step configuration.</li> <li>Note: It is similar as in GUI Automation plugin steps.</li> </ul>
5	Criteria Value	Specify relevant criteria value for the criteria provided above.
5	Criteria Value	You may change criteria by choosing from the drop down list in 'Step Generation' window or step configuration. Note: It is similar as in GUI Automation plugin steps. Specify relevant criteria value for the criteria provided above.

AutomationEdge



6	Element index(Starts with 0)	For Multiple elements with same criteria, specify index of the element you want to locate. Provide index 0 if you want first element from the located elements, increment index by 1 for the next elements.
	Destination Flowert	
	Destination Element:	The section is enabled only for the Action Type Drag Drop.
1	Windows Path	Windows Path is the relative path of the desktop application on which element exists. It is captured by Windows Spy in the Generate Step dialog. It is then populated in the step configuration upon Step Generation. You may also enter or modify Windows path manually on the 'Step Generation' window or step configuration. Windows path may be provided as a String or regex.
		Sample of Windows Path as string: w[Desktop]/w[Application Name] or
		Sample of Windows Path as regex:
		w[Desktop]/w[/Application N/], w[Desktop]/w[/Application .*/], If you are putting partial application name then put ii as a regex between / and /. Also if the Application name changes dynamically it is a good idea to provide it as a regex.
2	Criteria	'Criteria' is the criterion to locate element on Windows Desktop. It is captured by Windows Spy in the Generate Step dialog. Upon Step Generation it is populated in the step configuration. You may change criteria by choosing from the drop down list in 'Step Generation' window or step configuration. Note: It is similar as in GUI Automation plugin steps.
3	Criteria Value	Specify relevant criteria value for the criteria provided above.
4	Element index(Starts with 0)	For Multiple elements with same criteria, specify index of the element you want to locate. Provide index 0 if you want first element from the located elements, increment index by 1 for the next elements.
5	Timeout(In seconds)	Specify a Timeout to find the element on the Desktop application.

#### Common Buttons:



No.	Field Name	Description
	Buttons:	
1	ОК	On click of this button field values are checked. If any required field values are missing then validation error message is displayed.
		If all the required field values are provided then it will save the field values.
2	Cancel	Click this button to cancel the window without saving any values.
3	Button: Edit Source Element/ Edit Destination Element	Click Edit Element to start spying. Either Edit Source Element or Edit Destination Element button is visible depending on any field chosen on 'Source element' or Destination element' group. Opening spy from step is restricted to the step, i.e. Only relevant elements are detected from active spy. Use Hotkeys ('Shift' or '~') to detect the element. We may call it as a 'Step Restricted Spy' for understanding purposes. E.g. is restricted to elements that support 'Mouse Action'. All elements that are supported will be highlighted in blue color and others will be highlighted in 'Red' color upon hover. Step dropdown is disabled and value selected is 'Mouse Action'.

#### 1.9 Set Value

Windows: Set Value plugin step sets value to element of type – Text box, Text area, document or pane.

#### 1.9.1 Configurations

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Step Name	Name of the step. This name has to be unique in a single workflow.

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



Write	Nrite Parameter Tab		
No.	Field Name	Description	
1	Tabular Columns:		
i	Windows Path	Windows Path is the relative path of the desktop application on which element exists. It is captured by Windows Spy in the Generate Step dialog. It is then populated in the step configuration upon Step Generation. You may also enter or modify Windows path manually on the 'Step Generation' window or step configuration.	
		Windows path may be provided as a String or regex. Sample of Windows Path as string: w[Desktop]/w[Application Name]	
		or Sample of Windows Path as regex: w[Desktop]/w[/Application N/], w[Desktop]/w[/Application .*/], If you are putting partial application name then put ii as a regex between / and /. Also if the Application name changes dynamically it is a good idea to provide it as a regex.	
ii	Criteria	<ul><li>'Criteria' is the criterion to locate element on Windows Desktop.</li><li>It is captured by Windows Spy in the Generate Step dialog.</li><li>Upon Step Generation it is populated in the step configuration.</li><li>You may change criteria by choosing from the drop down list in</li><li>'Step Generation' window or step configuration.</li><li>Note: It is similar as in GUI Automation plugin steps.</li></ul>	
iii	Criteria Value	Specify relevant criteria value for the criteria provided above.	
iv	Element index(Starts with 0)	For Multiple elements with same criteria, specify index of the element you want to locate. Provide index 0 if you want first element from the located elements, increment index by 1 for the next elements.	
V	Write Type	Specify a Write type – Append Text or Set New Text	
vi	Input Text	Specify the text to set value of the element- textbox or text area	
2	Timeout(In Seconds)	Specify a Timeout to find the element on the Desktop application.	



Com	Common Buttons:		
No.	Field Name	Description	
	Buttons:		
1	ОК	On click of this button field values are checked. If any required field values are missing then validation error message is displayed.	
		If all the required field values are provided then it will save the field values.	
2	Cancel	Click this button to cancel the window without saving any values.	
3	Edit Element	Click Edit Element to start spying. Opening spy from step is restricted to the step, i.e. Only relevant elements are detected from active spy. Use Hotkeys ('Shift' or '~') to detect the element. We may call it as a 'Step Restricted Spy' for understanding purposes. E.g. Suppose spy is started from 'Set Value' step. Now spy is restricted to elements that support 'Set Value'. All elements that are supported will be highlighted in blue color and others will be highlighted in 'Red' color upon hover. Step dropdown is disabled and value selected is 'et Value'.	

# 1.10 Start Browser

#### 1.10.1 Description

The Start Browser step initiates the web browser and navigates to the URL specified in GUI automation.

#### 1.10.2 Configurations

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Web Browser Name	You can select any one Web Browser Name from the given list.
2	Browser	<ul> <li>Web browser to initialize. Choose from a drop down list containing,</li> <li>Mozilla</li> <li>Chrome</li> </ul>

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



		<ul> <li>Internet Explorer -with Ignore IE Protected mode checkbox (Refer Note 3 below)</li> </ul>
3	Web URL	URL to navigate after web browser is initialized.
4	Default download directory	Any browser has a default directory path where all files are downloaded. This feature allows users to overwrite the default download directory. Once a new Default download directory is specified, any file downloaded will be stored in the specified directory.
		This setting is only affective for the current browser instance. This option is not available for Internet Explorer.
5	Maximize Browser	Checkbox to specify if browser window is to be maximized. By default, the browser is not maximized.
6	Start Node	Checkbox to specify if this step is a start node (no other input steps are connected to this step)
7	Clear all browser instances	<ul> <li>Clear All Browser Instances option is available in Start Browser in addition to the process studio -&gt; tools menu.</li> <li>When a GUI Automation workflow is run from Process Studio the entire browser session does not close implicitly,</li> <li>Leaving the browser open even when there is an error during development and browser is manually or abnormally terminated.</li> <li>In case you manually terminate a browser the browser driver is still initialized and when you run the workflow the start step will give an error as the browser is already initialized.</li> <li>Similarly in case Browser terminates abnormally then you need to clear browser driver instance before you can start a new browser session.</li> <li>Enable Clear All Browser Instances checkbox to Clear All Browser Instances before starting the browser.</li> </ul>
8	Delay (in milliseconds)	Maximum global delay set for the entire session.
9	Notify on browser version change	Enable this checkbox to notify Workflow Administrator and Tenant Administrator if valid emails and SMTP is configured.
10	Page load timeout(in milliseconds)	The page load timeout in milliseconds for any web page across the workflow. Else the workflow errors out. The page load timeout can be overwritten by the Web URL Navigation step.



11	Delay (in milliseconds)	The total delay in milliseconds for the entire workflow to execute. Delay to locate and perform any action on any web element step, else the workflow errors out
12	Retry count	User can set retry count number and that will be globally used in all steps of GUI Automation for retrying on error. Whenever the execution of GUI Automation step ends up with an error it will retry execution number of time specified in start browser.
		If one doesn't want to retry for some specific steps, retry count can be set to 0 by using 'Set Retry Count' Step. Use of 'Web Set Retry Count' is to modify the count specified in Start Browser. Steps after Web Set Retry Count will get newly set Retry Count.
		Following steps are excluded from the functionality of Retry Count:
		<ol> <li>Begin</li> <li>End</li> <li>CloseWindow</li> <li>Robot Handling</li> <li>SetDelay</li> <li>SetRetryCount</li> <li>URL navigation</li> </ol>

#### Notes:

- 1. In case of multiple Initialize Web Driver steps in single process/workflow, make sure different drivers are selected.
- 2. If delay is specified as 0, default considered is 30 seconds.
- In case of IE, starting version 7, notion of 4 Security zones; namely Intranet, Internet, Trusted Sites and Restricted Sites was introduced. The following two scenarios are to be noted in Web GUI automation using IE.
  - 1. The default behavior in Web GUI automation using IE is to check "Enable Protected Mode" settings for all the zones and throw an error when this setting is different for any two zones.
  - 2. In Web GUI automation with IE When "Enable Protected Mode" settings are different for different security zones and you navigate from one URL in one zone to another URL in different zone having a different setting for "Enable Protected Mode", IE internally launches a new process and from that point on, automation fails as it loses the process handle.



In case of Web GUI automation 'Ignore IE Protected Mode Settings' checkbox has been introduced in Web-GUI "Start Browser" step and Web-Spy to handle the two scenarios above.

- 1. When "Ignore Protected Mode Settings" is CHECKED in Web GUI "Start Browser" step and Web-Spy. "Enable Protected Mode" setting check for different zones is ignored and it starts without error no matter what "Enable Protected Mode" settings for different zones are.
- 2. We already have the feature to start GUI Automation automation with an initial Browser URL. If during entire automation, browser doesn't navigate to some other URL but URL specified as initial Browser URL, zone switching never happens and automation works fine.

No.	Common Buttons	
1	Help	Click to see the Plugin description and configuration details.
2	ОК	Click OK button to accept configurations.
3	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.

#### 1.11 Web Actions

#### 1.11.1 Description

The Web Actions step gives the option to perform several actions on a specific element on the web page in GUI automation. When 'drag and drop' action is selected the configurations for destination element is enabled.

	-	
No.	Field Name	Description
1	Web Browser Name	You can select any one Web Browser Name from the given list, Basically you must select the same Web Browser Name which was selected in Start Browser Step.
2	Action*	Click action to be performed on the web page element.
	Source Element:	
1	Criteria*	Locate element on web page
2	Criteria Value	Relevant criteria value has to be specified.

#### 1.11.2 Configurations

<sup>© 2021</sup> AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



3	Multiple elements with same criteria	Check this option if there are multiple web elements in the web page having same criteria value you have specified. By default it will be unchecked.
4	Element index	If you have checked Multiple <b>elements with same criteria</b> specify index of the element you want to locate. Select option <b>FIRST</b> if you want first element from the located element and select <b>LAST</b> if you want last element.
5	Use Coordinates	Enable checkbox to use coordinate options. This option is disabled for drag and drop Action.
6	X-Coordinate Value	Specify the value of X-Coordinate to move the cursor to specified x-coordinate of the located element.
7	Y-Coordinate Value	Specify the value of Y-Coordinate to move the cursor to specified y-coordinate of the located element.
	Destination Element:	When 'drag and drop' action is selected the configurations for destination element is enabled. The configurations available are same as 1-4 of source element as above.

#### \*Action

The table below contains the description of each Action.

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Click	Perform single click on the web element.
2	Right Click	Perform right click on the web element.
3	Double Click	Perform double click on the web element.
4	Drag and Drop	Will perform drag and drop operation.
5	Move to element	Will move focus to the specified web element.
6	Click and Hold	Clicks (without releasing) in the middle of the element.

#### \*Criteria

The table below contains the description of criteria.

No.	Field	Description
	Name	

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



1	Xpath	Xpath defines the hierarchy of the tags through which you can reach to a particular element. For example /html/body/div[1]/div/div[3]/div[2]/div/div[2]/div/div[2]/div[2]/div[1]/div[1]/span/span
2	ld	Id attribute of a web element can be best way to identify an element if it is present and is going to constant and unique. There are cases however when it is either absent or its value changes every time you access the application in the browser
3	Name	Name is another attribute of a web element which can be used to identify an element.
4	Link Text	If a HTML page contains a hyperlink element <i><a< i=""> href=www.google.com&gt;Search On Google, you can identify this href element by providing complete text 'Search On Google' as the Link value.</a<></i>
5	Partial Link text	This criteria is same as Link, just that, in this case, you can give partial string for finding a match
6	Tag Name	Every HTML element has a tag associated with it. The element can be located using that tag name. For example, textbox has a tag <input/> .
7	Class Name	Class name is the css class associated with an HTML element. If there is a div element <div class="someclass">MyDiv</div> , you can locate it by giving class name 'someclass'.
8	Css Selector	This criteria is useful when an HTML element has multiple associated css classes. Consider an HTML element <div class="btn primary-btn submit"></div> . To identify this div element you can use Css selector as ".btn.primary-btn.submit"

No.	Common Buttons	
1	Help	Click to see the Plugin description and configuration details.
2	ОК	Click OK button to accept configurations.
3	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.

#### 1.12 Web Alert

#### 1.12.1 Description

The Web Alert step gives the functionality of handling java script generated alerts in GUI automation.



#### 1.12.2 Configurations

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Web Browser Name	You can select any one Web Browser Name from the given list, Basically you must select the same Web Browser Name which was selected in Start Browser Step.
2	Alert Operations*	Specify the alert operation to perform
3	Value	By default this field will be disabled and will be enabled if <b>SetValue</b> alert operation is chosen. Through this field you can specify the value you want to set in the alert.
4	Output field name	By default this field will be disabled this will be enabled only when you select <b>GetValue</b> alert operation. This allows you to define field name in which alert's text will be stored.

#### \*Alert Operations

The table below contains the description of each Alert Operation.

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Accept	Select this option when you want to click "OK/Yes" button of the alert.
2	Dismiss	This option will dismiss the alert which is appeared on the web page.
3	SetValue	If any alert is asking you to enter some value in it you can select this option and specify the value in <b>Value</b> field which is entered in the alert.
4	GetValue	If you want to retrieve alert text choose this option and it will store the retrieved value in the field you have specified in the <b>Output field name</b> .

No.	Common Buttons	
1	Help	Click to see the Plugin description and configuration details.
2	ОК	Click OK button to accept configurations.
3	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



#### 1.13 Web Click

#### 1.13.1 Description

The Web Click step is used to click web element like button, hyper link, image and div. It is basically a single click on the specified web element.

No.	Field	Description
1	Web Browser Name	You can select any one Web Browser Name from the given list, Basically you must select the same Web Browser Name which was selected in Start Browser Step.
2	Criteria*	Locate element on web page
3	Criteria Value	Relevant criteria value has to be specified.
4	Multiple elements with same criteria	Check this option if there are multiple web elements in the web page having same criteria value you have specified. By default it will be unchecked.
5	Element index (Starts with 0)	If you have checked Multiple <b>elements with same criteria</b> specify index of the element you want to locate. Select option <b>FIRST</b> if you want first element from the located element and select <b>LAST</b> if you want last element.
6	Number of clicks	Put the number of times web click occurs. It should be greater than zero. Default is 1.
7	Click Options	<ul> <li>Choose a click option from the following three radio buttons. By default, Normal click is selected.</li> <li>Normal click</li> <li>Press enter</li> <li>Click using java script</li> </ul>

#### 1.13.2 Configurations

#### \*Criteria

#### The table below contains the description of criteria.

<sup>© 2021</sup> AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

#### **Plugin Reference**



No.	Field	Description
1	Xpath	Xpath defines the hierarchy of the tags through which you can reach to a particular element. For example /html/body/div[1]/div/div[3]/div[2]/div/div[2]/div/div[2]/div[2]/div[1]/div[1]/span/span
2	ld	Id attribute of a web element can be best way to identify an element if it is present and is going to constant and unique. There are cases however when it is either absent or its value changes every time you access the application in the browser
3	Name	Name is another attribute of a web element which can be used to identify an element.
4	Link Text	If a HTML page contains a hyperlink element <i><a< i=""> href=www.google.com&gt;Search On Google, you can identify this href element by providing complete text 'Search On Google' as the Link value.</a<></i>
5	Partial Link text	This criteria is same as <b>Link</b> , just that, in this case, you can give partial string for finding a match.
6	Tag Name	Every HTML element has a tag associated with it. The element can be located using that tag name. For example, textbox has a tag <input/> .
7	Class Name	Class name is the css class associated with an HTML element. If there is a div element <div class="someclass">MyDiv</div> , you can locate it by giving class name 'someclass'.
8	Css Selector	This criteria is useful when an HTML element has multiple associated css classes. Consider an HTML element <div class="btn primary-btn submit"></div> . To identify this div element you can use Css selector as ".btn.primary-btn.submit"

No.	Common Buttons	
1	Help	Click to see the Plugin description and configuration details.
2	ОК	Click OK button to accept configurations.
3	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.

# 1.14 Web Composite

#### 1.14.1 Description

# The Web Composite step is a singular step that can be used to perform several Web GUI actions.

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

AutomationEdge

Note: The step will perform only the basic actions. For the advanced requirements the original steps need to be used.

1.14.2 Configu	rations
----------------	---------

No.	Field	Description
1	Web Browser Name	You can select any one Web Browser Name from the given list, Basically you must select the same Web Browser Name which was selected in Start Browser Step.
	Actions Tab Table:	
2	Actions	Choose the Action to be performed from the drop down list. The following, actions can be performed using the Web Composite step. Get Value Set Value Click Right Click Double Click Click and Hold Move to Element Alert SetValue Alert Getvalue Alert Getvalue Alert Accept Alert Dismiss Element Displayed Element Enabled Element Selected Page Scroll Wait Until Alert Present Wait Until Element Visible Wait Until Element Present
		<ul> <li>Start Browser</li> <li>Exit Brower</li> <li>Close Web Window</li> <li>Robot Handling</li> <li>Web Drop Down Selection</li> <li>Web File Upload</li> </ul>



		<ul> <li>Web Loop Table</li> <li>Web URL Navigation</li> <li>Web Set Delay</li> <li>Web Actions → Drag and Drop</li> </ul>
3	Criteria*	Choose the element locator to locate element on web page.
4	Criteria Value	Specify the relevant criteria value of the element locator to search with.
5	Multiple elements with same criteria	If there are multiple elements on the same page/frame with same criteria select Yes.
6	Element index(Starts with 0)	Element index(Starts with 0) is enabled if Multiple <b>elements</b> <b>with same criteria</b> is marked as Yes. Need to specify the index of element to access.Select option <b>FIRST</b> if you want first element from the located element and select <b>LAST</b> if you want last element.
7	Value	Provide an optional value depending on the action chosen. (Such as if Web Click is chosen as action put the number of times web click occurs. It should be greater than zero. Default is 1; Provide value for Web Set Value).
8	Output field name	Specify an optional new output fieldname to hold value given out by the action depending on the action chosen, example Web Get Value.
9	Delay(in milliseconds)	Specify delay for the particular action. If empty, it is defaulted to the value set by Start Browser or latest Web Set Delay step. This is an implicit delay.
10	Description	Provide an optional description depending on the action chosen.

#### \*Criteria

The table below contains the description of criteria.

No.	Field	Description
1	Xpath	Xpath defines the hierarchy of the tags through which you can reach to a particular element. For example /html/body/div[1]/div/div[3]/div[2]/div/div[2]/div/div[2]/div[2]/div[1]/div[1]/span/span
2	ld	Id attribute of a web element can be best way to identify an element if it is present and is going to constant and unique. There are cases however when it is either absent or its value changes every time you access the application in the browser
3	Name	Name is another attribute of a web element which can be used to identify an element.



4	Link Text	If a HTML page contains a hyperlink element < <i>a</i> href=www.google.com>Search On Google, you can identify this href element by providing complete text 'Search On Google' as the Link value.
5	Partial Link text	This criteria is same as <b>Link</b> , just that, in this case, you can give partial string for finding a match.
6	Tag Name	Every HTML element has a tag associated with it. The element can be located using that tag name. For example, textbox has a tag <input/> .
7	Class Name	Class name is the css class associated with an HTML element. If there is a div element <div class="someclass">MyDiv</div> , you can locate it by giving class name 'someclass'.
8	Css Selector	This criteria is useful when an HTML element has multiple associated css classes. Consider an HTML element <div class="btn primary-btn submit"></div> . To identify this div element you can use Css selector as ".btn.primary-btn.submit"

No.	Common Buttons	
1	Help	Click to see the Plugin description and configuration details.
2	ОК	Click OK button to accept configurations.
3	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.

### 1.15 Web Download Image

#### 1.15.1 Description

The Web Download Image step downloads a Web GUI image.

#### 1.15.2 Configurations

No.	Field	Description
1	Web Browser Name	You can select any one Web Browser Name from the given list, Basically you must select the same Web Browser Name which was selected in Start Browser Step.
2	Criteria	Locate element on web page
3	Criteria value	Relevant criteria value has to be specified.

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.


4	Multiple elements with same criteria	Check this option if there are multiple web elements in the web having same criteria value you have specified. By default it will be unchecked.
5	Element index(Starts with 0)	If you have checked Multiple elements with same criteria specify index of the element you want to locate. Select option FIRST if you want first element from the located element and select LAST if you want last element.
6	Download Directory	The directory where the image file will be downloaded. The default directory is \${Internal.Entry.Current.Directory} i.e. that is the same location where the workflow is saved.
8	Output file path	Specify a field to hold the Output file path including the file path along with name of the image file downloaded.
9	Add filenames to result	If checkbox is enabled, then, if any image or attachment is downloaded, it is added to result; and reflected in the Requests results as a link to download the image/attachment.

No.	Common Buttons	
1	Help	Click to see the Plugin description and configuration details.
2	ОК	Click OK button to accept configurations.
3	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.

# 1.16 Web Dropdown Selection

#### 1.16.1 Description

The Web Dropdown Selection step is used to select value of dropdown list on the web page for Web GUI automation.

### 1.16.2 Configurations

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Web Browser Name	You can select any one Web Browser Name from the given list, Basically you must select the same Web Browser Name which was selected in Start Browser Step.

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



2	Criteria*	Locate element on web page
3	Criteria Value	Relevant criteria value has to be specified.
4	Multiple elements with same criteria	Check this option if there are multiple web elements in the web page having same criteria value you have specified. By default it will be unchecked.
5	Element index	If you have checked Multiple elements with same criteria specify index of the element you want to locate. Select option FIRST if you want first element from the located element and select LAST if you want last element.
6	Select by*	Method to select the dropdown value
7	Selection value	Relevant value need to be specified for the method selected in Select by

### \*Criteria

The table below contains the description of criteria.

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Xpath	Xpath defines the hierarchy of the tags through which you can reach to a particular element. For example /html/body/div[1]/div/div[3]/div[2]/div/div[2]/div/div[2]/div[2]/div[1]/div[1]/span/span
2	ld	Id attribute of a web element can be best way to identify an element if it is present and is going to constant and unique. There are cases however when it is either absent or its value changes every time you access the application in the browser
3	Name	Name is another attribute of a web element which can be used to identify an element.
4	Link Text	If a HTML page contains a hyperlink element <a href="www.google.com">Search On Google</a> , you can identify this href element by providing complete text 'Search On Google' as the Link value.
5	Partial Link text	This criteria is same as <b>Link</b> , just that, in this case, you can give partial string for finding a match
6	Tag Name	Every HTML element has a tag associated with it. The element can be located using that tag name. For example, textbox has a tag <input/> .

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved. This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.



7	7	Class Name	Class name is the css class associated with an HTML element. If there is a div element <div class="someclass">MyDiv</div> , you can locate it by giving class name 'someclass'.
8	8	Css Selector	This criteria is useful when an HTML element has multiple associated css classes. Consider an HTML element <div class="btn primary-btn submit"></div> . To identify this div element you can use Css selector as ".btn.primary-btn.submit"

#### \*Select by

The table below contains the description of each Select by methods.

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Index	Suppose located dropdown has 3 options " <b>A,B,C</b> ", now if you want to select " <b>A</b> " give the index value as "0" and so on.
2	Value	Every item in html dropdown has a value attribute associated with it. If the Value attribute of desired option is known select this option.
3	Visible Text	Visible Text is the value of the option which user can see on the web page.

No.	Common Buttons	
1	Help	Click to see the Plugin description and configuration details.
2	ОК	Click OK button to accept configurations.
3	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.

## 1.17 Web Element Condition

### 1.17.1 Description

The Web Element Condition step checks specified condition of web page element and returns a Boolean value in Web GUI automation.



### 1.17.2 Configurations

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Web Browser Name	You can select any one Web Browser Name from the given list, Basically you must select the same Web Browser Name which was selected in Start Browser Step.
2	Condition*	Condition to check on web page element.
3	Criteria*	Locate element on web page
4	Criteria Value	Relevant criteria value has to be specified.
5	Output field name	Name of the output field, which contains the evaluated Boolean value.

#### \*Condition

The table below contains the description of each Condition.

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Is displayed	Check if web page element is displayed.
2	Is enabled	Check if web page element is enabled.
3	Is selected	Check if web page element is selected.

### \*Criteria

The table below contains the description of criteria.

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Xpath	Xpath defines the hierarchy of the tags through which you can reach to a particular element. For example /html/body/div[1]/div/div[3]/div[2]/div/div[2]/div/div[2]/div[2]/div[1]/div[1]/span/span
2	ld	Id attribute of a web element can be best way to identify an element if it is present and is going to constant and unique. There are cases however when it is either absent or its value changes every time you access the application in the browser
3	Name	Name is another attribute of a web element which can be used to identify an element.

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



4	Link Text	If a HTML page contains a hyperlink element <a href="www.google.com">Search On Google</a> , you can identify this href element by providing complete text 'Search On Google' as the Link value.
5	Partial Link text	This criteria is same as Link, just that, in this case, you can give partial string for finding a match
6	Tag Name	Every HTML element has a tag associated with it. The element can be located using that tag name. For example, textbox has a tag <input/> .
7	Class Name	Class name is the css class associated with an HTML element. If there is a div element <div class="someclass">MyDiv</div> , you can locate it by giving class name 'someclass'.
8	Css Selector	This criteria is useful when an HTML element has multiple associated css classes. Consider an HTML element <div class="btn primary-btn submit"></div> . To identify this div element you can use Css selector as ".btn.primary-btn.submit"

No.	Common Buttons	
1	Help	Click to see the Plugin description and configuration details.
2	ОК	Click OK button to accept configurations.
3	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.

# 1.18 Web File Upload

#### 1.18.1 Description

The Web File Upload step is used for uploading a file with absolute path (browse dialog), on a web page in Web GUI automation.

### 1.18.2 Configurations

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Web Browser Name	You can select any one Web Browser Name from the given list, Basically you must select the same Web Browser Name which was selected in Start Browser Step.
2	File path	Absolute file path for upload

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



No.	Common Buttons	
1	Help	Click to see the Plugin description and configuration details.
2	ОК	Click OK button to accept configurations.
3	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.

#### 1.19 Web Get Value

#### 1.19.1 Description

The Web Get Value step allows you to retrieve text of any web element (including dropdown). The retrieved value will be stored in a field value. The step also allows multiple criteria to retrieve text of multiple web elements in Web GUI automation.

1.19.2		Configurations	
No.	Field	Name	Description

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Web Browser Name	You can select any one Web Browser Name from the given list, Basically you must select the same Web Browser Name which was selected in Start Browser Step.
2	Criteria*	Locate element on web page (including radio button and checkbox)
3	Criteria value	Relevant criteria value has to be specified.
4	Element is dropdown	Select Yes/No based on element is dropdown or not.
5	Multiple elements with same criteria	Select <b>Yes</b> if there are multiple web elements in the web page having same criteria value you have specified, else select <b>No</b>
6	Element index	If you have selected <b>Yes</b> for Multiple elements with same criteria, specify index of the element you want to locate. Select option FIRST if you want first element from the located element and select LAST if you want last element.
7	Output field name	Here you can define process studio output field in which retrieved value will be stored.

#### \*Criteria

#### The table below contains the description of criteria.

<sup>© 2021</sup> AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



No.	Field Name	Description
1	Xpath	Xpath defines the hierarchy of the tags through which you can reach to a particular element. For example /html/body/div[1]/div/div[3]/div[2]/div/div[2]/div/div[2]/div[2]/div[1]/div[1]/span/span
2	ld	Id attribute of a web element can be best way to identify an element if it is present and is going to constant and unique. There are cases however when it is either absent or its value changes every time you access the application in the browser
3	Name	Name is another attribute of a web element which can be used to identify an element.
4	Link Text	If a HTML page contains a hyperlink element <a href="www.google.com">Search On Google</a> , you can identify this href element by providing complete text 'Search On Google' as the Link value.
5	Partial Link text	This criteria is same as Link, just that, in this case, you can give partial string for finding a match
6	Tag Name	Every HTML element has a tag associated with it. The element can be located using that tag name. For example, textbox has a tag <input/> .
7	Class Name	Class name is the css class associated with an HTML element. If there is a div element <div class="someclass">MyDiv</div> , you can locate it by giving class name 'someclass'.
8	Css Selector	This criteria is useful when an HTML element has multiple associated css classes. Consider an HTML element <div class="btn primary-btn submit"></div> . To identify this div element you can use Css selector as ".btn.primary-btn.submit"

No.	Common Buttons	
1	Help	Click to see the Plugin description and configuration details.
2	ОК	Click OK button to accept configurations.
3	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.

# 1.20 Web Loop Table

### 1.20.1 Description

The step is used to traverse through an HTML table in Web GUI automation. Either entire table or specific columns can be the output.

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



The Web Loop Table step is designed to be used within a loop. On drag n drop of this new step, Continue step is also added on the canvas and the validations are same as the Start Loop-Continue Loop steps.

Each row of the table is processed for a single iteration (The rows to be processed are specified in the Loop Tab as All or specific rows or based on a condition). Processing of all the rows specified for a single iteration completes a loop.

The input row and additional fields are passed in the false path after all the rows (as specified in the Loop Tab) are processed.

#### Validations:

- If the workflow is using switch case for path decisions inside loop or error handling, all of them must end with Loop Continue Step.
- Both the steps must be present and connected properly in the workflow.
- Infinite loop will not be verified.
- Cannot have Blocking Steps in the loop
- Steps like Merge Join, Join Rows which wait for all rows before execution start will not be allowed in the loop.
- Row generating steps like Microsoft Excel Input are not allowed in a loop.

#### 1.20.2 Configurations

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Web Browser Name	You can select any one Web Browser Name from the given list, Basically you must select the same Web Browser Name which was selected in Start Browser Step.

Web	Web Table Tab:		
No.	Field Name	Description	
2	Selection Options	This is an implicit field with only one option, Entire Table with Specific Columns.	
3	Criteria*	Choose the element locator from the drop down list.	
4	Criteria value	Provide the value of the element locator to search with.	
5	Multiple elements with same criteria	Check this option if there are multiple web elements in the web page having same criteria value you have specified. By default it will be unchecked.	
6	Element index	If you have checked Multiple elements with same criteria specify index of the element you want to locate.	

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



		You may also select option <b>FIRST</b> if you want first element from the located element and select <b>LAST</b> if you want last element.
	Get Values Table:	
7	Table Column Index	Specify column index to be retrieved. For multiple columns, mention column index on different rows.
8	Output Field Name	New field to store the retrieved value of the respective column for each row.

Loop	Loop Tab:		
No.	Field Name	Description	
1	Conditional Loop?	Checkbox to activate the Conditions block, else Number of rows will is active.	
2	Number of rows	<ul> <li>Specify the number of rows to pass through the loop. Values are in a dropdown,</li> <li>All Rows</li> <li>First</li> <li>Last</li> <li>Also a text box is provided to enter a numeric value <i>N</i>, in case</li> <li>First or Last is selected.</li> </ul>	
	Table: Additional Fields	This table is used to create user defined additional fields. Additional fields are added as columns to the row. They are permanent and visible even after the loop is over. Note: Any fields created within a loop are not permanently available after loop execution. Only Additional fields specified in Loop Start are available even after loop execution.	
3	Name	Provide names of all additional fields you want to define.	
4	Туре	Select a data type for the additional field.	
5	Format	Select a format for the data Type selected above.	
6	Default value	Provide a default value for the additional field.	
7	Set empty string?	Select Y or N. If default value is not provided set 'Set empty string?' to Y. This sets a null value as an empty string.	
8	Block: Conditions	Conditions Block is a set of five fields. These fields can be populated with Previous field, Addition fields or Static values.	

 $^{\odot}$  2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved. This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.



	For more detailed description with screen shots refer Start Loop step.	Click the field to populate a value as a toggle or from a popup that comes up. The first field specifies a toggle for a condition. Leave it default to blank or click once to toggle it to NOT. The second is the field to compare. The third field is an operator The fourth field is the field to be compared against or alternately specify a static value in the sixth field to be compared against. Click on the small rectangular icon on the right hand side of the block to add a condition. You can Add a condition with the following operators: OR, AND, OR NOT, AND NOT, XOR. Multiple condition list by icon on right side Right click on a condition to get a pop-up menu with the following options: Edit condition, Delete condition, Add sub- condition, Move condition to sub-condition (>), Move condition to parent (<) and more copy options. These options can be used to create Nested conditions.
9	Button: Get Fields	In the Conditions Block above only previous fields are available. Click Get Fields to make Additional fields also available in the conditions block.

#### \*Criteria

The table below contains the description of criteria.

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Xpath	Xpath defines the hierarchy of the tags through which you can reach to a particular element. For example /html/body/div[1]/div/div[3]/div[2]/div/div[2]/div/div[2]/div[2]/div[1]/div[1]/span/span
2	ld	Id attribute of a web element can be best way to identify an element if it is present and is going to constant and unique. There are cases however when it is either absent or its value changes every time you access the application in the browser
3	Name	Name is another attribute of a web element which can be used to identify an element.

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved. This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.



4	Link Text	If a HTML page contains a hyperlink element <a href="www.google.com">Search On Google</a> , you can identify this href element by providing complete text 'Search On Google' as the Link value.
5	Partial Link text	This criteria is same as Link, just that, in this case, you can give partial string for finding a match
6	Tag Name	Every HTML element has a tag associated with it. The element can be located using that tag name. For example, textbox has a tag <input/> .
7	Class Name	Class name is the css class associated with an HTML element. If there is a div element <div class="someclass">MyDiv</div> , you can locate it by giving class name 'someclass'.
8	Css Selector	This criteria is useful when an HTML element has multiple associated css classes. Consider an HTML element <div class="btn primary-btn submit"></div> . To identify this div element you can use Css selector as ".btn.primary-btn.submit"

No.	Common Buttons	
1	Help	Click to see the Plugin description and configuration details.
2	ОК	Click OK button to accept configurations.
3	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.

# 1.21 Web Page Scroll

#### 1.21.1 Description

The Web Page Scroll step is used to scroll a web page in Web GUI automation. It can be used to locate or access an element on the web page which requires page scrolling. Criteria and value are specified to locate the element to scroll to and the step will automatically scroll where ever needed.

#### 1.21.2 Configurations

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Web Browser Name	You can select any one Web Browser Name from the given list, Basically you must select the same Web Browser Name which was selected in Start Browser Step.
2	Criteria*	Locate element on web page.
3	Criteria value	Relevant criteria value has to be specified.

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



4	Multiple elements with same criteria	Check this option if there are multiple web elements in the web page having same criteria value you have specified. By default it will be unchecked.
5	Element index	If you have checked Multiple elements with same criteria specify index of the element you want to locate. Select option FIRST if you want first element from the located element and select LAST if you want last element.

#### \*Criteria

The table below contains the description of criteria.

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Xpath	Xpath defines the hierarchy of the tags through which you can reach to a particular element. For example /html/body/div[1]/div/div[3]/div[2]/div/div[2]/div/div[2]/div[2]/div[1]/div[1]/span/span
2	ld	Id attribute of a web element can be best way to identify an element if it is present and is going to constant and unique. There are cases however when it is either absent or its value changes every time you access the application in the browser
3	Name	Name is another attribute of a web element which can be used to identify an element.
4	Link Text	If a HTML page contains a hyperlink element <a href="www.google.com">Search On Google</a> , you can identify this href element by providing complete text 'Search On Google' as the Link value.
5	Partial Link text	This criteria is same as Link, just that, in this case, you can give partial string for finding a match
6	Tag Name	Every HTML element has a tag associated with it. The element can be located using that tag name. For example, textbox has a tag <input/> .
7	Class Name	Class name is the css class associated with an HTML element. If there is a div element <div class="someclass">MyDiv</div> , you can locate it by giving class name 'someclass'.
8	Css Selector	This criteria is useful when an HTML element has multiple associated css classes. Consider an HTML element <div class="btn primary-btn submit"></div> . To identify this div element you can use Css selector as ".btn.primary-btn.submit"

No.	Common Buttons	

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved. This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.



1	Help	Click to see the Plugin description and configuration details.
2	OK	Click OK button to accept configurations.
3	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.

### 1.22 Web Set Delay

#### 1.22.1 Description

The Web Set Delay step sets the global delay value for further steps in Web GUI automation.

#### 1.22.2 Configurations

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Web Browser Name	You can select any one Web Browser Name from the given list, Basically you must select the same Web Browser Name which was selected in Start Browser Step.
2	Delay (in milliseconds)	Global delay value to be set for the specified driver.

No.	Common Buttons	
1	Help	Click to see the Plugin description and configuration details.
2	ОК	Click OK button to accept configurations.
3	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.

# 1.23 Web Set Retry Count

#### 1.23.1 Description

Web Set Retry Count step is used to modify the Retry Count specified in Start Browser of Web GUI automation. Steps after Web Set Retry Count will get newly set Retry Count.

#### 1.23.2 Configurations

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved. This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.



No.	Field Name	Description
1	Web Browser Name	You can select any one Web Browser Name from the given list, Basically you must select the same Web Browser Name which was selected in Start Browser Step.
2	Retry Count	A retry count number can be set that is globally used in all steps of GUI Automation for retrying on error. Initially a retry count number can be set in Start Browser step. Whenever the execution of Web GUI step ends up with an error it will retry execution the number of time specified in start browser.
		If one does'nt want to retry for some specific steps, retry count can be set to 0 by using 'Set Retry Count' Step. Use of 'Web Set Retry Count' is to modify the count specified in Start Browser. Steps after Web Set Retry Count will get newly set Retry Count.
		Following steps are excluded from the functionality of Retry Count:
		<ol> <li>Begin</li> <li>End</li> <li>CloseWindow</li> <li>Robot Handling</li> <li>SetDelay</li> <li>SetRetryCount</li> <li>URL navigation</li> </ol>

No.	Common Buttons	
1	Help	Click to see the Plugin description and configuration details.
2	ОК	Click OK button to accept configurations.
3	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.

# 1.24 Web Set Value

# 1.24.1 Description

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

The Web Set Value step is used to set the text in the web element, example, text box, column in a table in Web GUI automation.

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Web Browser Name	You can select any one Web Browser Name from the given list, Basically you must select the same Web Browser Name which was selected in Start Browser Step.
2	Criteria*	Locate element on web page.
3	Criteria value	Relevant criteria value has to be specified.
4	Text	Here you can specify the text you want to enter in to the element you have located.
5	Clear text before set?	Select <b>Yes</b> if you want to remove previously set value in the element you have located and <b>No</b> if you want to append the text in the element.

### 1.24.2 Configurations

### \*Criteria

The table below contains the description of criteria.

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Xpath	Xpath defines the hierarchy of the tags through which you can reach to a particular element. For example /html/body/div[1]/div/div[3]/div[2]/div/div[2]/div/div[2]/div[2]/div[1]/div[1]/span/span
2	ld	Id attribute of a web element can be best way to identify an element if it is present and is going to constant and unique. There are cases however when it is either absent or its value changes every time you access the application in the browser
3	Name	Name is another attribute of a web element which can be used to identify an element.
4	Link Text	If a HTML page contains a hyperlink element <a href="www.google.com">Search On Google</a> , you can identify this href element by providing complete text 'Search On Google' as the Link value.
5	Partial Link text	This criteria is same as Link, just that, in this case, you can give partial string for finding a match

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.

AutomationEdge



6	Tag Name	Every HTML element has a tag associated with it. The element can be located using that tag name. For example, textbox has a tag <input/> .
7	Class Name	Class name is the css class associated with an HTML element. If there is a div element <div class="someclass">MyDiv</div> , you can locate it by giving class name 'someclass'.
8	Css Selector	This criteria is useful when an HTML element has multiple associated css classes. Consider an HTML element <div class="btn primary-btn submit"></div> . To identify this div element you can use Css selector as ".btn.primary-btn.submit"

No.	Common Buttons	
1	Help	Click to see the Plugin description and configuration details.
2	ОК	Click OK button to accept configurations.
3	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.

### 1.25 Web Switch Frame

#### 1.25.1 Description

The Web Switch Frame step switches between HTML frames in the web page in Web GUI automation.

### 1.25.2 Configurations

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Web Browser Name	You can select any one Web Browser Name from the given list, Basically you must select the same Web Browser Name which was selected in Start Browser Step.
2	Locate By*	Switching frame options
3	Criteria*	Locate element on web page
4	Criteria Value	Relevant criteria value has to be specified.
5	Multiple elements with same criteria	Check this option if there are multiple web elements in the web page having same criteria value you have specified. By default it will be unchecked.
6	Element index	If you have checked Multiple <b>elements with same criteria</b> specify index of the element you want to locate.

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



Select option FIRST if you want first element from the located
element and select LAST if you want last element.

### \*Locate By

The table below contains the description of each Locate By option.

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Default	Navigate to default context of the page i.e. outer most region of web page
2	Parent	Navigate to parent frame
3	Name	Specify name of the frame to switch to
4	Id	Specify id of the frame to switch to
5	Element	Switch to frame where element of specific criteria is present
6	Index	Index of the frame you want to switch to

#### \*Criteria

The table below contains the description of criteria.

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Xpath	Xpath defines the hierarchy of the tags through which you can reach to a particular element. For example /html/body/div[1]/div/div[3]/div[2]/div/div[2]/div/div[2]/div[2]/div[1]/div[1]/span/span
2	ld	Id attribute of a web element can be best way to identify an element if it is present and is going to constant and unique. There are cases however when it is either absent or its value changes every time you access the application in the browser
3	Name	Name is another attribute of a web element which can be used to identify an element.
4	Link Text	If a HTML page contains a hyperlink element <a href="www.google.com">Search On Google</a> , you can identify this href element by providing complete text 'Search On Google' as the Link value.
5	Partial Link text	This criteria is same as Link, just that, in this case, you can give partial string for finding a match

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved. This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.



6	Tag Name	Every HTML element has a tag associated with it. The element can be located using that tag name. For example, textbox has a tag <input/> .
7	Class Name	Class name is the css class associated with an HTML element. If there is a div element <div class="someclass">MyDiv</div> , you can locate it by giving class name 'someclass'.
8	Css Selector	This criteria is useful when an HTML element has multiple associated css classes. Consider an HTML element <div class="btn primary-btn submit"></div> . To identify this div element you can use Css selector as ".btn.primary-btn.submit"

No.	Common Buttons	
1	Help	Click to see the Plugin description and configuration details.
2	ОК	Click OK button to accept configurations.
3	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.

### 1.26 Web Switch Window

### 1.26.1 Description

The Web Switch Window step is useful when you want to switch between multiple browser windows in Web GUI automation. This basically gives the handle of desired window to perform further activity on that window.

### 1.26.2 Configuration

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Web Browser Name	You can select any one Web Browser Name from the given list, Basically you must select the same Web Browser Name which was selected in Start Browser Step.
2	Switching options*	Options to switch window
3	Criteria*	Locate element on web page. By default this field will be disabled and will be enabled only when <b>Element</b> is selected as a switching option.
4	Value	Relevant value for the specified Switching option.

#### \*Switching Options

<sup>© 2021</sup> AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



No.	Field Name	Description
1	Window Title	Option can be used when window title is known.
2	Element	Tries to find the specified element in all open browser windows and stops on the window where this element is found. Criteria to locate element can be specified using criteria and value field.
3	URL	If there are multiple windows or tabs open in the browser with different URLs and you need to navigate to the window having specific URL. Specify URL in the value field.
4	Index	Every window open in the browser has the index starting from zero you can switch to any window using this index.

The table below contains the description of each Switching option.

### \*Criteria

The table below contains the description of criteria.

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Xpath	Xpath defines the hierarchy of the tags through which you can reach to a particular element. For example /html/body/div[1]/div/div[3]/div[2]/div/div[2]/div/div[2]/div[2]/div[1]/div[1]/span/span
2	ld	Id attribute of a web element can be best way to identify an element if it is present and is going to constant and unique. There are cases however when it is either absent or its value changes every time you access the application in the browser
3	Name	Name is another attribute of a web element which can be used to identify an element.
4	Link Text	If a HTML page contains a hyperlink element <a href="www.google.com">Search On Google</a> , you can identify this href element by providing complete text 'Search On Google' as the Link value.
5	Partial Link text	This criteria is same as Link, just that, in this case, you can give partial string for finding a match
6	Tag Name	Every HTML element has a tag associated with it. The element can be located using that tag name. For example, textbox has a tag <input/> .

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



7	Class Name	Class name is the css class associated with an HTML element. If there is a div element <div class="someclass">MyDiv</div> , you can locate it by giving class name 'someclass'.
8	Css Selector	This criteria is useful when an HTML element has multiple associated css classes. Consider an HTML element <div class="btn primary-btn submit"></div> . To identify this div element you can use Css selector as ".btn.primary-btn.submit"

No.	Common Buttons	
1	Help	Click to see the Plugin description and configuration details.
2	ОК	Click OK button to accept configurations.
3	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.

### 1.27 Web Table

### 1.27.1 Description

The Web Table step is used to traverse through HTML table in Web GUI automation. Either entire table or specific columns can be the output.

### 1.27.2 Configurations

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Web Browser Name	You can select any one Web Browser Name from the given list, Basically you must select the same Web Browser Name which was selected in Start Browser Step.
2	Selection Options*	There are three options to iterate through entire table or specific row with specific columns.
3	Criteria**	Locate element on web page.
4	Criteria value	Relevant criteria value to be specified.
5	Multiple elements with same criteria	Check this option if there are multiple web elements in the web page having same criteria value you have specified. By default it will be unchecked.
6	Element index	If you have checked Multiple elements with same criteria specify index of the element you want to locate.

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



		Select option <b>FIRST</b> if you want first element from the located element and select <b>LAST</b> if you want last element.
7	Table Column Index	Specify column index to be retrieved. For multiple columns, mention column index on different rows.
8	Output Field Name	Field to store the retrieved value of the respective column.

# \*Selection Option

The table below contains the description of each Selection Option.

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Entire Table With Specific Columns	Traverse entire table and retrieve values from specific column(s).
2	One Row With Specific Columns	Retrieve one row with specific column(s).
3	One Cell	Retrieve value of one column of any specific row.

#### \*\*Criteria

The table below contains the description of criteria.

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Xpath	Xpath defines the hierarchy of the tags through which you can reach to a particular element. For example /html/body/div[1]/div/div[3]/div[2]/div/div[2]/div/div[2]/div[2]/div[1]/div[1]/span/span
2	ld	Id attribute of a web element can be best way to identify an element if it is present and is going to constant and unique. There are cases however when it is either absent or its value changes every time you access the application in the browser
3	Name	Name is another attribute of a web element which can be used to identify an element.
4	Link Text	If a HTML page contains a hyperlink element <a href="www.google.com">Search On Google</a> , you can identify this href element by providing complete text 'Search On Google' as the Link value.
5	Partial Link text	This criteria is same as Link, just that, in this case, you can give partial string for finding a match

 $\ensuremath{\textcircled{\sc 0}}$  2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



6	Tag Name	Every HTML element has a tag associated with it. The element can be located using that tag name. For example, textbox has a tag <input/> .
7	Class Name	Class name is the css class associated with an HTML element. If there is a div element <div class="someclass">MyDiv</div> , you can locate it by giving class name 'someclass'.
8	Css Selector	This criteria is useful when an HTML element has multiple associated css classes. Consider an HTML element <div class="btn primary-btn submit"></div> . To identify this div element you can use Css selector as ".btn.primary-btn.submit"

No.	Common Buttons	
1	Help	Click to see the Plugin description and configuration details.
2	ОК	Click OK button to accept configurations.
3	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.

# 1.28 Web URL Navigation

#### 1.28.1 Description

The Web URL Navigation step is used for navigating to another URL on the same browser window in Web GUI automation.

#### 1.28.2 Configurations

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Web Browser Name	You can select any one Web Browser Name from the given list, Basically you must select the same Web Browser Name which was selected in Start Browser Step.
2	Web URL	URL to navigate to.
3	Delay (in milliseconds)	Page load timeout.

No.	Common Buttons	
1	Help	Click to see the Plugin description and configuration details.
2	ОК	Click OK button to accept configurations.

 $\ensuremath{\textcircled{\sc 0}}$  2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



3	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.
		0

### 1.29 Web Wait Until

#### 1.29.1 Description

The Web Wait Until step waits for an element to be visible, enabled or present on the web page in Web GUI automation. The maximum wait time is until the delay specified.

#### 1.29.2 Configurations

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Web Browser Name	You can select any one Web Browser Name from the given list, Basically you must select the same Web Browser Name which was selected in Start Browser Step.
2	Expected Condition*	Specify the wait condition for the element
3	Delay (in milliseconds)	Maximum time in milliseconds to wait for the expected condition.
4	Criteria*	Locate element on web page
5	Criteria Value	Relevant criteria value has to be specified.

#### \*Expected Condition

The table below contains the description of each condition.

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Alert present	Check if alert present.
2	Element visible	Check if element with specific criteria is visible.
3	Element present	Check if element with specific criteria is present.

#### \*Criteria

#### The table below contains the description of criteria.



No.	Field Name	Description
1	Xpath	Xpath defines the hierarchy of the tags through which you can reach to a particular element. For example /html/body/div[1]/div/div[3]/div[2]/div/div[2]/div/div[2]/div[2]/div[1]/div[1]/span/span
2	ld	Id attribute of a web element can be best way to identify an element if it is present and is going to constant and unique. There are cases however when it is either absent or its value changes every time you access the application in the browser
3	Name	Name is another attribute of a web element which can be used to identify an element.
4	Link Text	If a HTML page contains a hyperlink element <a href="www.google.com">Search On Google</a> , you can identify this href element by providing complete text 'Search On Google' as the Link value.
5	Partial Link text	This criteria is same as Link, just that, in this case, you can give partial string for finding a match
6	Tag Name	Every HTML element has a tag associated with it. The element can be located using that tag name. For example, textbox has a tag <input/> .
7	Class Name	Class name is the css class associated with an HTML element. If there is a div element <div class="someclass">MyDiv</div> , you can locate it by giving class name 'someclass'.
8	Css Selector	This criteria is useful when an HTML element has multiple associated css classes. Consider an HTML element <div class="btn primary-btn submit"></div> . To identify this div element you can use Css selector as ".btn.primary-btn.submit"

Notes: If Expected condition is 'Alert present', the Criteria and Criteria value fields are disabled.

No.	Common Buttons	
1	Help	Click to see the Plugin description and configuration details.
2	ОК	Click OK button to accept configurations.
3	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.

### 1.30 Windows Action

Windows Application GUI: Windows Action plugin step does window related actions such as Maximize, Minimize, Normal and Close.

#### Note:

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

- For Windows Action step you need to hover over the edges of the window to detect the window.
- Windows Action cannot be used, on pop-up windows, instead Mouse Action- Click, or Surface plugin –Surface Click or Robot Handing steps could be used.

#### 1.30.1 Configurations

Inpu	input Tab:		
No.	Field Name	Description	
1	Step Name	Name of the step. This name has to be unique in a single workflow.	
2	ActionType	Select an ActionType from one of the following,	
3	Windows Path	Windows Path is the relative path of the desktop application on which element exists. It is captured by Windows Spy in the Generate Step dialog. It is then populated in the step configuration upon Step Generation. You may also enter or modify Windows path manually on the 'Step Generation' window or step configuration. Windows path may be provided as a String or regex. Sample of Windows Path as string: w[Desktop]/w[Application Name] or Sample of Windows Path as regex: w[Desktop]/w[/Application N/], w[Desktop]/w[/Application .*/], If you are putting partial application name then put ii as a regex between / and /. Also if the Application name changes dynamically it is a good idea to provide it as a regex.	
4	Timeout(In Seconds)	Specify a Timeout to find the element on the Desktop application.	

Common Buttons:		
No.	Field Name	Description
	Buttons:	

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.

AutomationEdge



1	ОК	On click of this button field values are checked. If any required field values are missing then validation error message is displayed. If all the required field values are provided then it will save the field values.
2	Cancel	Click this button to cancel the window without saving any values.
3	Button: Edit Element	Click Edit Element to start spying. Opening spy from step will be restricted to the step i.e. Only relevant elements will be detected from active spy. We can call it as a 'Step Restricted Spy' just for understanding purposes. Use Hotkeys ('Shift' or '~') to detect elements. E.g. Suppose spy is started from 'Window Action' step. Now spy is restricted to elements of type 'Window' only. All element of type 'Window' will be highlighted in blue color. If we try to detect element other than of type 'Window' it will be highlighted in 'Red' color upon hover. Notice Step dropdown is disabled and value selected is 'Window Action'

# 1.31 Get Table Data [Beta]

#### 1.31.1 Description

Windows: Get Table Data plugin step gets table from elements of type - List, Grid, Table or Data grid, filtered based on criteria provided.

	V	
No.	Field Name	Description
1	Step Name	Name of the step. This name has to be unique in a single workflow.
2	Action Type	Select an Action Type from the drop down list.           Action Type         Entire Table With Specific Columns           Entire Table With Specific Columns
		One Row With Specific Columns One Cell

### 1.31.2 Configurations

 $\ensuremath{\textcircled{\sc 0}}$  2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



3	Windows Path	<ul> <li>Windows Path is the relative path of the desktop application on which element exists. It is captured by Windows Spy in the Generate Step dialog. It is then populated in the step configuration upon Step Generation. You may also enter or modify Windows path manually on the 'Step Generation' window or step configuration.</li> <li>Windows path may be provided as a String or regex. Sample of Windows Path as string: w[Desktop]/w[Application Name] or Sample of Windows Path as regex: w[Desktop]/w[/Application N/], w[Desktop]/w[/Application .*/], If you are putting partial application name then put ii as a regex between / and /. Also if the Application name changes dynamically it is a good idea to provide it as a regex.</li> </ul>
4	Criteria	'Criteria' is the criterion to locate element on Windows Desktop. It is captured by Windows Spy in the Generate Step dialog. Upon Step Generation it is populated in the step configuration. You may change criteria by choosing from the drop down list in 'Step Generation' window or step configuration. Note: It is similar as in GUI Automation plugin steps.
5	Criteria Value	Specify relevant criteria value for the criteria provided above.
6	Element index(Starts with 0)	For Multiple elements with same criteria, specify index of the element you want to locate. Provide index 0 if you want first element from the located elements, increment index by 1 for the next elements.
7	Row Index	<ul> <li>Specify the Row Index to fetch data.</li> <li>Row index is enabled only if one of the following is chosen in Action Type above,</li> <li>One Row With Specific Columns</li> <li>One Cell</li> </ul>
8	Get Values (Tabular):	
i	Column Index	Specify the Column Indices to fetch data.
ii	Output Variable	Specify an output field to hold the value of Step execution.
9	Timeout(In seconds)	Specify a Timeout to find the element on the Desktop application.

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved. This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.



Com	Common Buttons:		
No.	Field Name	Description	
	Buttons:		
1	ОК	On click of this button field values are checked. If any required field values are missing, then validation error message is displayed.	
		If all the required field values are provided then it will save the field values.	
2	Cancel	Click this button to cancel the window without saving any values.	
3	Button: Edit Element	Click Edit Element to start spying. Opening spy from step is restricted to the step, i.e. Only relevant elements are detected from active spy. Use Hotkeys ('Shift' or '~') to detect the element. We may call it as a 'Step Restricted Spy' for understanding purposes. E.g. Suppose spy is started from 'Get Table Data' step. Now spy is restricted to elements of type 'Table' only. All element of type 'Table' will be highlighted in blue color. If we try to detect element other than of type 'Table' it will be highlighted in 'Red' color upon hover. Step dropdown is disabled and value selected is 'Get Table Data'.	



# 2 Desktop

Windows Desktop plugin steps are used for Windows Desktop applications automation.

#### **Prerequisites:**

- Windows Operating System
- Install jdk and set JAVA\_HOME, JRE\_HOME environment variables.
- Windows .NET framework 4.6 and above
- Process studio distribution full path name should not have any spaces.
- Chrome browser is required to run DesktopSpy for AE releases prior to 5.4.0
- License is required to run DesktopSpy and Desktop plugins. License can be acquired and applied by contacting AutomationEdge Inc. A description on how to Apply License is in the section below.
- Desktop Plugin in Release 1.3 is compatible with AutomationEdge Release 5.4.0 onwards. For applet support GUI Automation Plugin1.3 is also required. Applet automation technology only works with the IE browser.
- Plugins1.2 and 1.3 with AutomationEdge R5.3.0 needs an extra external jar file. Please contact AutomationEdge Support for the same.
- Plugins1.2 and 1.3 with AutomationEdge below R5.3.0 needs multiple extra external jar files, hence not recommended.

#### **Desktop: Apply Licence**

#### Apply Desktop Plugins License to Process Studio

- 1. Once you get the license file copy or replace it in the following locations.
  - Process-Studio-distribution/psplugins/DesktopPlugins/desktopengine/userdata/config(For Plugins)
  - Process-Studio-distribution/psplugins/DesktopPlugins/desktopspy/userdata/config (for Spy) on your local environment.

2. Restart Process-studio and you are good to go.

	If the folders above are not present then follow the below steps: 1. If Process-Studio-distribution/psplugins/DesktopPlugins/ <b>desktop-</b> engine/userdata/config" is not present, run sample desktop
×.	workflow and the folder is created.
Note:	<ol> <li>If "Process-Studio-distribution/psplugins/DesktopPlugins/desktop- spy/userdata/config(for Spy)" is not present,</li> </ol>
	Navigate to tools -> Spy -> Desktop Spy. This opens Desktop Spy
	and the folder is created.

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



#### **Apply Desktop Plugins License to Agents**

1. Once you get the license file copy or replace it in the following location,

Agent Home/psplugins/DesktopPlugins/desktop-engine/userdata/config

	If the folder above is not present then follow the below step:
X.	<ol> <li>If Agent Home/psplugins/DesktopPlugins/desktop-</li> </ol>
Note:	engine/userdata/config" is not present, first import any desktop
	workflow and assign the workflow to the agent

#### **References:**

For a description on how to use Desktop Spy refer to Appendix 3: Desktop Spy Tutorial.

For sample workflows refer to, Project 8: Desktop Spy in the AutomationEdge\_R7.0.0\_ProcesStudio\_Activity\_Guide.



#### Setup:

Process Studio DesktopSpy is used to get many of the configuration parameters of Desktop plugin steps. To be able to use DesktopSpy we need to configure Process Studio Options Desktop SPY Port and Desktop Runtime Port. This is shown in the snapshots below.

1. In Process Studio go to Tools menu and Options sub-menu.

AutomationEdge Process	Studio - Workflow 1 (ch	anged	- 25
Eile Edit View Action	Tools Help		
	Wizard	·	
View O Design	Options	how 1 St	
Steps	Sync Plugins		
Active Directory     MindowsDesktop	345		

2. Set or change Desktop Spy Port and Desktop Runtime Port if required or leave it to the default values.



3. You are now ready to start using DesktopSpy with Desktop Plugins.



# 2.1 Desktop Click

#### 2.1.1 Description

The step is used to perform click action on a Windows Desktop application element.

### 2.1.2 Configurations

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Step Name	Name of the step. This name has to be unique in a single workflow.
2	Prefix	Prefix is populated when working with popup windows and multiple domains. Prefix is meant to get an identifier for an instance of an application. This field must be provided if it is returned by Desktop Spy. If Prefix is not returned by Desktop Spy it should be left blank. If prefix is blank it assigns a default prefix.
3	Accessor/Alternative	Accessor is a Windows Desktop application element identifier for a selected prefix above. This field is populated with Accessor or alternative Accessor. In case the Prefix field is blank it uses the default prefix.
4	Click Type	Click Type has three options: 1. Single Click 2. Double Click and 3. Right Click
5	Mode	Select 'WINDOWS' or 'JAVA_APPLET' from the drop down list. Generally WINDOWS mode is used for .Net Windows-based applications while JAVA_APPLET is used for applet based applications(e.g. Oracle E-business suite application)

# 2.2 Desktop Close

### 2.2.1 Description

The step is used to close the current Windows Desktop application element.

#### 2.2.2 Configurations

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Step Name	Name of the step. This name has to be unique in a single workflow.

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



2	Prefix	Prefix is populated when working with popup windows and multiple domains. Prefix is meant to get an identifier for an instance of a windows application. This field must be provided if it is returned by Desktop Spy. If Prefix is not returned by Desktop Spy it should be left blank. If prefix is blank it assigns a default prefix.
3	Mode	Select 'WINDOWS' or 'JAVA_APPLET' from the drop down list. Generally WINDOWS mode is used for .Net Windows-based applications while JAVA_APPLET is used for applet based applications(e.g. Oracle E-business suite application)

# 2.3 Desktop Highlight

#### 2.3.1 Description

The step is used to highlight an element on a Windows Desktop Application. This step is also useful during Process Studio Workflow development and debugging.

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Step Name	Name of the step. This name has to be unique in a single workflow.
2	Prefix	Prefix is populated when working with popup windows and multiple domains. Prefix is meant to get an identifier for an instance of an application. This field must be provided if it is returned by Desktop Spy. If Prefix is not returned by Desktop Spy it should be left blank. If prefix is blank it assigns a default prefix.
3	Accessor/Alternative	Accessor is a Windows Desktop application element identifier for a selected prefix above. This field is populated with Accessor or alternative Accessor. In case the Prefix field is blank it uses the default prefix.
4	Mode	Select 'WINDOWS' or 'JAVA_APPLET' from the drop down list. Generally WINDOWS mode is used for .Net Windows-based applications while JAVA_APPLET is used for applet based applications(e.g. Oracle E-business suite application)

#### 2.3.2 Configurations

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

#### AutomationEdge

# 2.4 Desktop MouseAction

#### 2.4.1 Description

The step is used to perform Mouse Actions on Windows Desktop application elements.

#### 2.4.2 Configurations

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Step Name	Name of the step. This name has to be unique in a single workflow.
2	Prefix	Prefix is populated when working with popup windows and multiple domains. Prefix is meant to get an identifier for an instance of an application. This field must be provided if it is returned by Desktop Spy. If Prefix is not returned by Desktop Spy it should be left blank. If prefix is blank it assigns a default prefix.
3	Accessor/Alternative	Accessor is a Windows Desktop application element identifier for a selected prefix above. This field is populated with Accessor or alternative Accessor. In case the Prefix field is blank it uses the default prefix.
4	MouseAction Type	Choose a value from the drop down list from the following values. 1. Drag & Drop 2. Mouse Hover
5	Destination prefix	If Drag & Drop is chosen above Destination prefix becomes active. Provide a value for the destination elements prefix.
6	Destination Accessor/Alternative	If Drag & Drop is chosen above Destination Accessor/Alternative also becomes active. Provide a value for the destination elements Accessor/Alternative.
7	Mode	Select 'WINDOWS' or 'JAVA_APPLET' from the drop down list. Generally WINDOWS mode is used for .Net Windows-based applications while JAVA_APPLET is used for applet based applications(e.g. Oracle E-business suite application)

# 2.5 Desktop Open

#### 2.5.1 Description

The step is used to open a Windows Application.

### 2.5.2 Configurations

<sup>© 2021</sup> AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



No.	Field Name	Description
1	Step Name	Name of the step. This name has to be unique in a single workflow.
	Prefix	In this plugin Prefix is usually the title for the application window. If we need to specify a wait time for an application window (with a specified prefix) to open then provide values in prefix as well as Windows load timeout field below. Both are mandatory. Note: If the application window with the specified prefix is already open or not found in the provided time then the step as well as workflow fails.
2	Path of Application	Provide the full path of the Windows Desktop Application executable.
3	Windows load timeout	This is maximum time provided after opening the application to load application window elements.
4	Mode	Select 'WINDOWS' or 'JAVA_APPLET' from the drop down list. Generally WINDOWS mode is used for .Net Windows-based applications while JAVA_APPLET is used for applet based applications(e.g. Oracle E-business suite application)

# 2.6 Desktop Read

### 2.6.1 Description

The step is used to read value of any element on the Windows Application.

### 2.6.2 Configurations

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Step Name	Name of the step. This name has to be unique in a single workflow.
2	Prefix	Prefix is populated when working with popup windows and multiple domains. Prefix is meant to get an identifier for an instance of an application. This field must be provided if it is returned by Desktop Spy. If Prefix is not returned by Desktop Spy it should be left blank. If prefix is blank it assigns a default prefix.

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



Read	Read Parameter Tab:		
No.	Field Name	Description	
	Input Fields:		
1	Accessor/Alternative	Accessor is a Windows Desktop application element identifier for a selected prefix above. This field is populated with Accessor or alternative Accessor. In case the Prefix field is blank it uses the default prefix.	
2	Read Type	Read Type can be Text or Value depending on the element type. (For e.g. for Button Label Read Type is text and for field Read Type is value).	
3	Output	Provide a name of a field to store the value read.	
4	Mode	Select 'WINDOWS' or 'JAVA_APPLET' from the drop down list. Generally WINDOWS mode is used for .Net Windows-based applications while JAVA_APPLET is used for applet based applications(e.g. Oracle E-business suite application).	

# 2.7 Desktop Start

### 2.7.1 Description

This step is a start node to be able to use any succeeding Desktop plugin steps in a workflow.

### 2.7.2 Configurations

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Step Name	Name of the step. This name has to be unique in a single workflow.
2	Start node	Enable the checkbox if this step is the first step in the workflow.
3	Applet Support	Enable checkbox for Applet support in the workflow.
4	Open Application	If this checkbox is enabled the three fields below are also enabled else the three fields below are disabled. If this checkbox is disabled this step is used to simply starts Desktop plugin driver. However, If this checkbox is enabled it starts Desktop plugin driver. Additionally, the step can be used to open any Windows Application.
5	Prefix	Prefix is populated when working with popup windows and multiple domains. Prefix is meant to get an identifier for an

 $\ensuremath{\textcircled{\sc 0}}$  2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.


		instance of an application window. Prefix is usually the title for the application window. This field must be provided if it is returned by Desktop Spy. If Prefix is not returned by Desktop Spy it should be left blank. If prefix is blank it assigns a default prefix.
		If we need to specify a wait time for an application window (with a specified prefix) to open then provide values in prefix as well as Windows load timeout field below. Both are mandatory.
		Note: If the application window with the specified prefix is already open or not found in the provided time then the step as well as workflow fail.
6	Path of Application	Provide the full path of the Windows Desktop Application executable
7	Windows load timeout(in millisecond)	This is maximum time provided after opening the application to load application window elements.
8	Mode	Select 'WINDOWS' or 'JAVA_APPLET' from the drop down list. Generally WINDOWS mode is used for .Net Windows-based applications while JAVA_APPLET is used for applet based applications(e.g. Oracle E-business suite application)

## 2.8 Desktop Stop

### 2.8.1 Description

The step is used to stop Desktop plugin engine.

### 2.8.2 Configurations

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Step Name	Name of the step. This name has to be unique in a single workflow.

# 2.9 Desktop Utilities

### 2.9.1 Description

The step is used to check the status of Desktop utilities.



No.	Field Name	Description
1	Step Name	Name of the step. This name has to be unique in a single workflow.
2	Prefix	Prefix is populated when working with popup windows and multiple domains. Prefix is meant to get an identifier for an instance of an application. This field must be provided if it is returned by Desktop Spy. If Prefix is not returned by Desktop Spy it should be left blank. If prefix is blank it assigns a default prefix.
3	Accessor/Alternative	Accessor is a Windows Desktop application element identifier for a selected prefix above. This field is populated with Accessor or alternative Accessor. In case the Prefix field is blank it uses the default prefix.
4	Utilities Type	Select a value from the drop down list. <ul> <li>Exists</li> <li>Is Checked</li> <li>Is Enabled</li> <li>Is Visible</li> <li>Application Exists</li> </ul>
5	Output	Provide a field name to store the value of output. This is a Boolean value.
6	Mode	Select 'WINDOWS' or 'JAVA_APPLET' from the drop down list. Generally WINDOWS mode is used for .Net Windows-based applications while JAVA_APPLET is used for applet based applications(e.g. Oracle E-business suite application)

# 2.10 Desktop WaitUntil

#### 2.10.1 Description

The Desktop WaitUntil step waits until a desktop application window is open or exists or element is present, visible, checked or enabled on the desktop application window in Desktop automation. The maximum wait time is until the timeout specified. The Desktop WaitUntil step can also wait for reverse of the above conditions.

### 2.10.2 Configurations

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



No.	Field Name	Description			
1	Step Name	Name of the step. This name has to be unique in a single workflow.			
2	Prefix	Prefix is populated when working with popup windows and multiple domains. Prefix is meant to get an identifier for an instance of an application. This field must be provided if it is returned by Desktop Spy. If Prefix is not returned by Desktop Spy it should be left blank. If prefix is blank it assigns a default prefix.			
3	Accessor/Alternative	Accessor is a Windows Desktop application element identifier for a selected prefix above. This field is populated with Accessor or alternative Accessor. In case the Prefix field is blank it uses the default prefix.			
4	Wait until condition	Specify the wa	it condition for the element.		
		Application Exists Exists Is Visible Is Checked Is Enabled	Check if an Application with specified Prefix exists. Check if element with specified Prefix and Accessor/Alternative exists. Check if element with specified Prefix and Accessor/Alternative is visible. Check if element with specified Prefix and Accessor/Alternative is checked. Check if element with specified Prefix and Accessor/Alternative is enabled.		
5	reverse of above condition	Enable checkb In other words Application	ox to check the reverse of the above conditions. it checks the following, Check if an Application with specified Prefix		
		does not Exists	does not exist.		
		Not Exists	Check if element with specified Prefix and Accessor/Alternative does not exist.		
		Is Not	Check if element with specified Prefix and		
		Is Not	Accessor/Alternative is not visible. Check if element with specified Prefix and		
		Checked	Accessor/Alternative is not checked.		
		Is Not Enabled	Check if element with specified Prefix and		
		LIIADIEU	AUGSSUI/AIGMAINE IS HUL EHADIEU.		

 $^{\odot}$  2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved. This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.



6	Timeout (in seconds)	Maximum time in seconds to wait for the expected wait until condition else to timeout and fail the step.
7	Mode	Select 'WINDOWS' or 'JAVA_APPLET' from the drop down list. Generally WINDOWS mode is used for .Net Windows-based applications while JAVA_APPLET is used for applet based applications(e.g. Oracle E-business suite application)

# 2.11 Desktop Write

### 2.11.1 Description

The step is used to write text in a windows desktop application.

### 2.11.2 Configurations

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Step Name	Name of the step. This name has to be unique in a single workflow.
2	Prefix	Prefix is populated when working with popup windows and multiple domains. Prefix is meant to get an identifier for an instance of an application. This field must be provided if it is returned by Desktop Spy. If Prefix is not returned by Desktop Spy it should be left blank. If prefix is blank it assigns a default prefix.

Write	Write Parameter Tab:				
No.	Field Name	Description			
	Fields:				
1	Accessor/Alternative	Accessor is a Windows Desktop application element identifier for a selected prefix above. This field is populated with Accessor or alternative Accessor. In case the Prefix field is blank it uses the default prefix.			
2	Write Type	Write Type can be Set New Text or Append Text depending on the activity required.			
3	Input Text	Provide the Text to be set as New Text or to Append.			
4	Mode	Select 'WINDOWS' or 'JAVA_APPLET' from the drop down list.			

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



Generally windows mode is used for .net	windows-based
applications while JAVA_APPLET is used for	or applet based
applications(e.g. Oracle E-business suite ap	plication)

# 3 Surface

Surface plugin has been designed with image recognition capabilities to capture images/regions on a screen. The captured image can be used for image search, mouse Actions on the image, image labeling and optical character recognition (OCR).

Surface Automation is particularly useful on remote machines where we do not have any handle to the content and everything is an image or pattern. It can be useful to work on remote environments such as Citrix.

#### **Prerequisite:**

- For surface plugin steps, Microsoft Visual C++ version 2015-2019 Redistributable (x64) and Microsoft Visual C++ version 2015-2019 Redistributable (x86) should be installed.
  - This is available at the following URL,
  - <u>https://support.microsoft.com/en-in/help/2977003/the-latest-supported-visual-c-downloads</u>
  - Download the following two executable,
    - x86: <u>vc\_redist.x86.exe</u>
    - x64: <u>vc redist.x64.exe</u>
- Surface spy is required to build workflows with Surface plugin steps. For a description on how to use Surface Spy refer the following,

#### Additional Prerequisite for Windows Server OS:

Surface Plugins use some of Windows Media Service DLL's (ex. mfplat.dll) for image recognition. You need to enable "Desktop Experience" windows feature to get the required DLL's. Following are the steps to install the required Windows Media Service- DLL's

- 1. On Windows Start menu search for 'Turn windows features on or off'
- 2. Skip the roles screen and directly go to Feature screen
- 3. Select "Desktop Experience" under "User Interfaces and Infrastructure"
- 4. Restart the system.



**Limitation:** Any type of UI Automation with Surface plugin steps is not supported in Linux based OS.

#### **References:**

For a description on how to use Surface Spy refer to Appendix 4: Surface Spy Tutorial

For a sample workflow refer to Project 8: Surface Spy in the AutomationEdge\_R7.0.0\_ProcesStudio\_Activity\_Guide.

### 3.1 Surface Click

### 3.1.1 Description

Surface Click step is used to perform a click action on an image on the screen.

### 3.1.2 Configurations

	-				
No.	Field Name	Desci	Description		
1	Step Name	Name workf	Name of the step. This name has to be unique in a single workflow.		
2	Match Pattern	<ul> <li>Retrieve Single closest match: It searches for and retrieves a single closest match. If the image is not found or multiple matches are found then it throws an error.</li> <li>Retrieve Multiple close matches: It searches for matching patterns and retrieves the closest matches.</li> <li>Retrieve All matches: It searches for and retrieves all matches (not below 50% or above 150% of the original size).</li> </ul>			
3	Click Type	Click	Type has five op	tions as below:	
		No	Click Types	Description	
		1	Click	It performs left click action.	
		2	Right Click	It performs right click action.	
		3	Double Click	It performs double-click action.	
		4	Middle Click	It performs left Middle click action.	
		5	Mouse Move	It performs Mouse Move action.	

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

4	Position	Choose position on the selected image to perform the click action.		
		No	Positions	Description
		1	Left	Center Left position of the Image.
		2	Right	Center Right position of the Image.
		3	Center	Center of the Image.
		4	Custom	Relative position from the entire Image. It could be anywhere on the screen. It is preferable to have the relative position of the relative element to click is closer to the current position.
5	Image Index	Image	e index is genera	ated by the image locator of surface spy.
9	Timeout(in seconds)	Specify a timeout in seconds to locate the image.		
10	Image	View the selected image.		

No.	Common Buttons	
1	ОК	Click OK button to accept configurations.
2	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.
3	Edit Image(s)	Click Edit Image(s) button to show the Surface Spy window. You can perform capture and locate functions and you can also change editable step properties.

# 3.2 Surface Find Image

### 3.2.1 Description

Surface Find Image step is used to find an image with on the screen. It returns a Boolean value true if image is found else it returns false.

### 3.2.2 Configurations

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Step Name	Name of the step. This name has to be unique in a single workflow.

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.



2	Match Pattern	<ul> <li>Retrieve Single closest match: It searches for and retrieves a single closest match. If the image is not found or multiple matches are found then it throws an error.</li> <li>Retrieve Multiple close matches: It searches for matching patterns and retrieves the closest matches.</li> <li>Retrieve All matches: It searches for and retrieves all matches (not below 50% or above 150% of the original size).</li> </ul>
3	Output field	Specify a field name to hold the output Boolean True or false
4	Timeout(in seconds)	Specify a timeout in seconds to locate the image.
5	Image	View the selected image.

No.	Common Buttons	
1	ОК	Click OK button to accept configurations.
2	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.
3	Edit Image(s)	Click Edit Image(s) button to show the Surface Spy window. You can perform capture and locate functions and you can also change editable step properties.

# 3.3 Surface Get Value

### 3.3.1 Description

Surface Get value step is used to get value on an image on the screen.

### 3.3.2 Configurations

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Step Name	Name of the step. This name has to be unique in a single workflow.
2	Match Pattern	<ul> <li>Retrieve Single closest match: It searches for and retrieves a single closest match. If the image is not found or multiple matches are found then it throws an error.</li> <li>Retrieve Multiple close matches: It searches for matching patterns and retrieves the closest matches.</li> <li>Retrieve All matches: It searches for and retrieves all matches (not below 50% or above 150% of the original size).</li> </ul>

 $\ensuremath{\textcircled{\sc 0}}$  2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



3	Position	Position has a default value Custom. Custom position is based on a relative position to a position on an image.
4	Image Index	<ul> <li>Image index is generated by the image locator on surface spy.</li> <li>It is identified by the image locator on surface spy.</li> <li>locating the image on the screen</li> <li>Image index automatically populated the Image Index and is the preferred way.</li> <li>You may set this manually, however locating the image on the</li> </ul>
		preferred way.
5	Output field	Specify a field to hold the extracted text.
6	Timeout(in seconds)	Specify a timeout in seconds to get value from the image.
7	Convert To grey scale	In case the step is not able to read characters in an image accurately you may enable Convert to grey scale checkbox to fetch better results.
8	Image	Depicts the image with respect to which we need to Get Value.

No.	Common Buttons	
1	ОК	Click OK button to accept configurations.
2	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.
3	Edit Image(s)	Click Edit Image(s) button to show the Surface Spy window. You can perform capture and locate functions and you can also change editable step properties.

# 3.4 Surface Set Value

### 3.4.1 Description

Surface Set Value step is used to set value on an image on the screen.

### 3.4.2 Configurations

No.	Field Name	Description
1	Step Name	Name of the step. This name has to be unique in a single workflow.

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



2	Match Pattern	<ul> <li>Retrieve Single closest match: It searches for and retrieves a single closest match. If the image is not found or multiple matches are found then it throws an error.</li> <li>Retrieve Multiple close matches: It searches for matching patterns and retrieves the closest matches.</li> <li>Retrieve All matches: It searches for and retrieves all matches (not below 50% or above 150% of the original size).</li> </ul>				
3	Position	Choos No 1	se position on the Positions Left	e selected image to Set Value action. Description Center Left position of the Image.		
		2	Right	Center Right position of the Image.		
		4	Custom	Relative position from the entire Image. It could be anywhere on the screen. If the relative position of the relative element to click is closer it is preferable.		
4	Image Index	Image	e index is genera	ted by the image locator of surface spy.		
5	Input Type	Input	Type has two op	tions as below:		
		No	Click Types	Description		
		1	Туре	It types the characters one by one.		
		2	Set Value	It sets the entire text in one go. (similar to pasting text)		
6	Value					
7	Timeout(in seconds)	Specify a timeout in seconds to locate the image.				
8	Image	Depicts the image with respect to which we need to Set Value.				

No.	Common Buttons	
1	ОК	Click OK button to accept configurations.
2	Cancel	Click CANCEL button to discard configurations.
3	Edit Image(s)	Click Edit Image(s) button to show the Surface Spy window. You can perform capture and locate functions and you can also change editable step properties.

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved. This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.



# **IV.** Appendices



# **1** Appendix 1: Error Handling in IT Plugins

This appendix describes Error Handling for IT plugins.

1. Upon Successful execution of steps in Process Studio a workflow completes successfully and any output fields data is displayed.

	Generate Rows Get Alerts 2							
Exec	ution Results							
	execution History	Logging (88 Ster	p Metrics 📈 Perfor	mance Graph 🕞 Met	rics 💿 Preview data			
• F	irstrows O Lastr	ows C Off	Y					
	AlertActiveID	AlertObjectID	Acknowledged	AcknowledgedBy				
1	163	118	<null></null>	<null></null>				
2	164	119	<null></null>	<null></null>				
3	165	120	true	admin				
4	166	121	<null></null>	<null></null>				
5	167	122	<null></null>	<null></null>				
6	168	123	<null></null>	<null></null>				
7	169	124	<null></null>	<null></null>				
8	170	125	<null></null>	<null></null>				
9	171	126	<null></null>	<null></null>				
10	172	127	<null></null>	<null></null>				
11	973	224	<null></null>	<null></null>				
12	1151	129	<null></null>	<null></null>				

2. In case any step fails the workflow aborts.

Generate Rows	Get Alerts 2
4	
Execution Results	
Execution History 🖃 Logging 🔠 Step I	trics 📈 Performance Graph [ Metrics 🞯 Preview data
2018/06/23 11:43:38 - Get Alerts 2.0 - ERROF	version Unknown, build 0 from 2018/06/23 07; 11: 29.429 by Administrator) : java.net.ConnectException: Connection timed out: connect
2018/06/23 11:43:38 - Get Alerts 2.0 - Finishe	rocessing (I=0, O=0, R=1, W=0, U=0, E=1)

3. On AutomationEdge the Error Message displayed is- Workflow detected one or more steps with errors.

Id	Workflow Name	Status		Agent Name	Created	Completed Date
40	Alert1	Failure 😂	Θ	Administrator@LPT0540	23-Jun-2018 11:34:55	23-Jun-2018 11:34:58
Error! : Workflow detected one or more steps with errors.						

4. To get the exact error message as displayed in Process Studio error handling needs to be done in the process studio workflow as shown below.

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

- Add two Set Workflow Result steps as seen below, one for workflow success and the other one for error handling.
- Now right click the IT Plugin step (Alert) and provide a name for Error Descriptions field (In this case 'Error Message).
- In the Set Workflow Result Failure select this field, 'Error Message' from the Message drop down combo box.

₽,					
Generate Rows	Get Alerts 2	Set Workflow Result Success			
🔆 Step error handling settings	<u>_ 🗆 ×</u>	G			
Error handling stepname Get Alerts 2			_		
Target step Set Workflow Result Fa	ailure 💌		Set Workflow Res	ult	
Enable the error handling?			Step name	Set Workflow Result Failure	
Nr of errors fieldname	<u> </u>	Set Workflow Result Failure	Success	false	<b>S</b>
Error descriptions Error Message	<u></u> (3)		Status	Failure	<b>▼</b> (3)
Error fields fieldname	3		Message	Error Message	<b>▼</b> (3)
Error codes fieldname	3		Total Operations	0	<b>▼</b> (3)
Max nr errors allowed	3		Successful	0	<b>v</b> (5)
Max % errors allowed	3		Attribute 1		- <u></u> (5)
Min nr of rows to read	<u>(</u> )		Attribute 2		<b>S</b>
OK Cancel			Attribute 3		<b>▼</b> (5)
			Attribute 4		<b>I</b>
			Attribute 5		<b>I</b>
<b>T</b>			Attribute 6		<b>v</b> (3)
Execution Results			Output Parameters	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
🕒 Execution History 📄 Logging 🔠 Step Metrics 📈	Performance Graph 🚺 Metrics 🛛	O Preview data		OK Cancel	
● Firstrows ○ Lastrows ○ Off     ■					
2018/06/23 11:43:38 - Get Alerts 2.0 - ERROR (version Un 2018/06/23 11:43:38 - Get Alerts 2.0 - Finished processing	known, build 0 from 2018/06/23 0 (I=0, O=0, R=1, W=0, U=0, E=	07:11:29.429 by Administrator) : java.net.Conne =1)	ctException: Connection	timed out: connect	

5. If the workflow is now published on AutomationEdge and run, it displays the complete error message as shown below.6 h

ld	Workflow Name	Status	Agent Name	Created	Completed Date
42	Alert1	Failure 😂 (	Administrator@LPT0540	23-Jun-2018 12:10:49	23-Jun-2018 12:11:12
Error! : java	.net.ConnectException: Connection timed out: connect	t Error Message	java.net.ConnectException: Con	nection timed out: connect	



# 2 Appendix 2: GUI Spy Tutorial

### 2.1 Introduction

Process Studio GUI Spy is a tool for automating GUI RPA (robotic process automation). GUI Spy can extract both web and windows element attributes, giving users a seamless GUI automation experience.

GUI Spy can generate individual Steps on the workflow. Alternatively, use the GUI Spy Recorder to record several steps and place them on the workflow in one go.

### 2.2 GUI Spy

The following is a snapshot of the GUI Spy dialog on Window OS.

- Enable checkbox for Web, Windows or Web + Windows.
- Set the URL to spy for Web elements and choose a browser from the list. Clicking on Go opens the GUI Spy toolbar.
- 'Find windows element indices checkbox' is applicable only for windows applications. Enable the checkbox for more robust automation; however, note that element detection will be slower in this scenario.

GUI Spy		$\times$
Automate	<u>₩</u> eb <u>₩</u> indows	
URL	https://www.google.com	
Browser	Google Chrome V	
	Find windows element indices.	
	G	D

The following is a snapshot of the GUI Spy pop-up on Linux OS. Linux support



The table below summarizes the Automate mode behaviour for Linux and Windows operating systems.

<sup>© 2021</sup> AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

### Table: Windows and Linux GUI Automation Behaviour

OS	Automate Mode	Behaviour
Windows/ Linux	Web	Detects all Web elements
		Notes:
		<ul> <li>If GUI Spy opens multiple browser windows, it is advisable to switch windows from the GUI Spy toolbar list as it will automatically display dialogue for confirmation to add a Web Switch Window step.</li> <li>On the other hand, if you switch to another window manually, it does not show any Switch step creation dialogue, and you will have to add the step manually in the workflow.</li> <li>Linux supports only Web mode.</li> </ul>
Windows	Windows	Detects all Windows elements
		<ul> <li>Here the elements are detected and automated using windows automation. This mode is not advisable for web automation.</li> </ul>
	Web +	Detects all Web and Windows elements
	vvindows	<ul> <li>Web mode gets priority over Windows mode while detecting web elements.</li> </ul>
		Notes:
		<ul> <li>If GUI Spy opens multiple browser windows, switching windows through the GUI Spy toolbar or manually displays a dialogue for confirmation to add a Web Switch Window step.</li> </ul>

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved. This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.



# 2.3 GUI Spy Toolbar

GUI Spy toolbar is compact and occupies a minimum screen area to spy on a web page with ease. Upon Spying, it opens the Generate Step dialog with two sections- Attributes and Step Generation for the web; make configuration changes if required and generates steps.

GUI Spy operates in three modes,

i. Web

(Enable only Web checkbox) The GUI Spy toolbar for the web is as follows,



ii. Windows

(Enable only Windows checkbox)

The GUI Spy toolbar for windows is as follows,



iii. Web + Windows

(Enable Web + Windows checkbox)

The GUI Spy toolbar for the web and windows is the same as the GUI Spy toolbar for the web.

👬 🔵 Google-AERecorder 🗸	O L	4>	👤 🧭	×	T+
-------------------------	-----	----	-----	---	----

### 2.4 Shortcut/Hot Keys

All web and windows elements can be detected using GUI Spy. Following are the shortcut keys available for GUI Spy.

 Ctrl + Alt + W – To open Windows Spy. Windows Spy Interface opens, as seen below. Notice that the background of the lens is orange, which signifies that the GUI Spy is not in active mode. Click on the lens icon.



2. The background of the magnifying lens changes to white which signifies that Spy is in active mode, and you are ready to spy.



- Mouse hover over the elements to Spy. Press keyboard key 'right shift' or back tick (`) to open the Generate Step dialog with element information; change configurations if required.
- 4. Close any active GUI Spy by clicking (🖾 )or (🔂 with Ctrl+Q).

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



The following sections provide a step-by-step demo of GUI Spy for Web and Windows.

### 2.5 GUI Spy for Web

### 2.5.1 Start using GUI Spy

Follow the steps below to launch and use GUI Spy to create a workflow.

- 1. Right-click on Tutorials Workspace and select New Project. Create a Project named GUI Spy.
- 2. To launch GUI Spy, go to the Tools menu and click Spy→GUI Spy sub-menu. Click GUI Spy. Alternatively, use the shortcut Ctrl+alt+w

ON IN THE LET CO.	14 M		
	Wizard		New York Contraction of the
B Project Explorer	Options		C Breakpoints @ Watch Variables
Search	Sov >	Desktop Spy CTRL+ALT+D	□ ≪ ∠ ⊠ と == **
V S Workspace - Tutoria	Show plugin information	Surface Spy CTRL+ALT+S	No breakpoints found in this
Workflows and	Check for Undater	GUI Spy CTRL+ALT+W	Workspace!
Resources	Clear all browser instances		
View Design Explorer     Workflows     Processes	12) 12 82		Q Scorch C

3. A dialog window with a message – 'There is no Active Workflow. Creating new workflow!' appears as seen below. Click OK to create a new workflow.



© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

4. Provide a name for the new workflow, say GUISpy\_Web\_Demo, in this example. Click OK to create the new workflow.

AutomationEdge Process Studio - Workflor File Edit View Action Tools Help	w1		- 🗆 X
		10-	
😝 Project Explorer	* Workflow 1 24	C Breakpoints	Watch Variables
Search 📙 😹 😚			
<ul> <li>✓ Seworkspace - Tutorials</li> <li>✓ GUI Spy</li> <li>➡ Workflows and Processes</li> </ul>		No brea	kpoints found in this Workspace!
E Resources	😼 Save As	×	
	Save in Folder: file///D:/Getting Started/Tutorials/GUI Spy ~	© e 4	
Item     Design       Steps     Item       Active Directory     A	Name		یں ۲ کے بر کی
Amazon EC2     BMC Remedy     Remedy			
CAPTCHA	Filename: GUISpy_Web_Demo		
> Desktop	OK	Cancel	
> 🛅 Google Spreadsheets			
> 🛅 GUI Automation			
> 🛅 Intune			
) 📑 Jira	×.		
Jira Service Desk	<		-

5. The GUI Spy dialog appears, as seen in the snapshot below. Click Go to open the GUI Spy toolbar.

GUI Spy		$\times$
Automate	✓ Web ✓ Windows	
URL	https://www.google.com	
Browser	Google Chrome V	
	Find windows element indices.	
	<u>G</u> o	

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.



The If IE is selected as the browser, an 'Ignore IE Protected Mode Settings' checkbox is visible. Starting version 7, IE introduced the notion of 4 zones; namely Intranet, Internet, Trusted Sites and Restricted Sites. The following two scenarios are to be noted in GUI automation using IE.

The default behaviour in GUI automation using IE is to check "Protected Mode" settings for all the zones and throw an error when this setting is different for any two zones.

'Ignore IE Protected Mode Settings' checkbox in GUI-Spy can handle the scenario.

When the "Ignore Protected Mode" setting is CHECKED in GUI-Spy, the "Protected Mode" setting check for different zones is ignored, and it starts without error no matter what "Protected Mode" settings for different zones are.

🖎 Note

**Note:** GUI automation workflow will fail when it traverses to another zone with a different 'Enable Protected Mode' setting.

GUI Spy	×
Automate	<u>₩</u> eb <u>W</u> indows
URL	https://www.google.com
Browser	Internet Explorer 🗸 🗸
	Ignore Protected mode
	Warning! If this check-box is selected then Spy will fail for use-case such as below : ex. If IE browser is currently in "Internet Zone" and if it switches to another zone, say "Trusted Zone" as the desired URL to traverse to is part of "Trusted Zone" and "Enable Protected Mode" settings between the two zone is not same then Spy will fail.

 Enter the web page's address you to inspect in the text field corresponding to the URL label. URL should be a complete URL starting with http/https. Select the browser name from the dropdown list – Firefox, Chrome or IE (Internet Explorer). In this case, the browser selected is Google Chrome and the URL entered is <u>https://www.google.com</u>.

7. Click on the "Go" button and wait for the browser to launch. A blue line surrounds the Go button until the browser completely initialises.

GUI Spy		$\times$	
Automate	<u> W</u> eb <u>W</u> indows		
URL	https://www.google.com		
Browser	Google Chrome 🗸		
	Find windows element indices.		
		<u>G</u> o	

8. GUI Spy toolbar opens in the foreground to the web page. In the screenshot below GUI Spy toolbar is highlighted in a red box.

$\cdot \rightarrow \mathbf{C}$ $\bullet$ google.com			2	<b>a</b> =
	Google	mages 👬	Sig	n in
	(			
	Google Search I'm Feeling Lucky			
	Google ottered in ।ବିଦ୍ୟା ବାସମା କାରମାର ମଧ୍ୟରା କ୍ରିଲୋଡ଼ ଏବଏଣା କରିବର ଅନ୍ୟା			
	doogle-AERecorder 🛩 💭	🗆 🏣 💀 🗷	Ø 😣	

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.



### 2.5.2 GUI Spy toolbar components

The following sections discuss the ten icons and the windows dropdown on GUI Spy on Web +

Windows toolbar ( Google-AERecorder V C) 🗖 🏣 🙋 🗷 🖉 🖉 🔅 🗘 and how to use them:

### 2.5.2.1 GUI Spy: Spy (👪)

- Click the first icon Spy on the GUI Spy toolbar. It turns the icon from orange to white (
   Hover over any element on the web page, and it shows a blue box over the element. In this case, the blue box is over the Search text box.
- 2. Hover over elements in the window to spy. If it does not highlight web elements on hover, check if you have clicked on the Spy icon (Spy button turns from orange to white) and then hover the mouse pointer to highlight elements.



- 3. Press the backtick (') icon on your keyboard.
- 4. If everything is as expected and you hit the **backtick (`),** GUI Spy captures element information and opens a Step generation dialog. This dialog contains the element's attribute table and step generation form to generate any step from GUI Spy. If you hit '`'



again without closing Generate step dialog, then the attributes table gets populated with information of the current element captured by GUI Spy.

- Select the type of step from the Type drop-down list. The values in the list are Single or Composite.
- 6. Select a value from the Action list.

A

7. The element Attributes window is displayed. Select a desired Attribute from the table or choose the desired criteria from the Criteria drop-down list.

Absolute X-Path cannot be used to Generate a step in Process Studio as It is not available in the Criteria drop-down list. GUI Spyt Generates the step with X-Path. If you need to Generate a step with Absolute X-Path, you

- need to first Generate it with X-Path. Copy the Absolute X-Path in the
   Note: Attributes section, with a right-click and select Copy. Now replace the value of the Generated X-Path with the Absolute X-Path in the step in Process Studio.
- 8. Click Generate button to generate a Single or Composite step with Action and Criteria chosen.

		Gmail Ima	jes III Sign
👬 Generate Step	⊳ — □ ×	JUUUE	
Attributes			
Attribute	Value		
X-Path	//BODY/DIV[1]/DIV[3]/FORM[1]/DIV[1]/DIV		
Absolute X-Path	html/body[1]/div[1]/div[3]/form[1]/div[1]/d	× 🕹	
Name	q		
Tag Name	INPUT		
Class Name	gLFyf gsfi	Scoole Search I'm Feeling Lucky	
CSS Selector	div:nth-child(1) > div:nth-child(1) > form:nth	bodgie bearding in recard Edeky	
X Co-ordinate	274		
Y Co-ordinate	202	बारना लक्ष्मक मराठी कातीक अथराती संजन्म मामणावक भंगांधी	
<	>	and come the back from onto secret bird	
Step Generation			
Type Single	~		
Action Web Tab	ole 🗸		
Criteria X-Path	~		
and a state of the	Harris		
	Generate		
144		Google-AERecorder ~ 🕥 📘	i 🗄 🔟 🚼 🧭 🧐 🗄

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

9. The screenshot below shows the Type is Composite is selected to Generate a step. Click Generate.

👬 Gene	erate Step	)		_		$\times$		
Attribut	es							
Attribut	e	Value						
X-Path		//BOD	Y/DIV[1]/DIV	[3]/FORM[1]	]/DIV[1]/[	DIV[1]/C		
Absolut	e X-Path	html/b	html/body[1]/div[1]/div[3]/form[1]/div[1]/div[1]					
Name		q						
Tag Nar	me	INPUT						
Class Na	ame	gLFyf gsfi						
CSS Sel	ector	div:nth	div:nth-child(1) > div:nth-child(1) > form:nth-chil					
X Co-or	dinate	274						
Y Co-or	dinate	202						
<						>		
Step Ger	neration							
Туре	Compos	ite				$\sim$		
Step	New					$\sim$		
Action	Click					$\sim$		
Criteria	X-Path					$\sim$		
					<u>G</u> en	erate		
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·								



G Google-AERec	rder-CDwindow- × +	• - • ×
← → C	a google.com	♀ ☆ ≗ :
	Gmail Images	III Sign in
	💑 Generate Step	
	Attribute     Value       X-Path     //BODV/DIV[11/DIV[3]/FORM[1]/DIV[1]/DIV[1]/DIV[1]/Z       Absolute X-Path     html/body[1]/div[1]/div[3]/form[1]/div[1]/div[1]/div[1]       Name     q       Tag Name     INPUT       Class Name     gLFyf gsfi       CSS Selector     div.nth-child(1) > div.nth-child(1) > formanth-chil       X Co-ordinate     274       Y Co-ordinate     289        >	dd it now?
	Step Generation मराठी इ.ம. ок	Cancel
	Type Composite V Step New V	
	Action Click	
India	Criteria X-Path	🖻 💻 🥝 😒 💠
India	About Advertising Business How Search works Privacy Terms Setti	ngs

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.

11. The message 'Web Composite step generated in the workflow' displays at the bottom.

👬 Gene	erate Step		_		$\times$		
Attribut	es						
Attribut	e	Value					
X-Path		//BODY/DIV[1]/DIV[3]	/FORM[1]/[	DIV[1]/DIV	/[1]/DI\		
Absolut	Absolute X-Path html/body[1]/div[1]/div[3]/form[1]/div[1]/div[1						
Name q							
Tag Nar	ne	INPUT					
Class Na	ame	gLFyf gsfi					
CSS Sel	ector	div:nth-child(1) > div:nth-child(1) > form:nth-child(1) > form:n					
X Co-or	dinate	274					
Y Co-or	dinate	289					
<					>		
Step Ger	neration						
Туре	e Composite		$\sim$				
Step	New				$\sim$		
Action	Click			$\sim$			
Criteria	X-Path				$\sim$		
				Gen	erate		
Step [W	eb Comp	osite] generated in wor	kflow [GUIS	py_Web_l	Demo]		

12. After a Composite step Generation for the Click Action, create a New step or add to the existing 'Web Composite' step as seen in the Step drop-down list in the snapshot below.

🔼 Gene	👫 Generate Step — 🗆 🗙					×
Attribut	es					
Attribut	e	Value				
X-Path		//BODY	/DIV[1]/DIV[3]/F	ORM[1]/[	DIV[1]/DI	V[1]/DI\
Absolut	e X-Path	html/bo	dy[1]/div[1]/div	[3]/form[	1]/div[1]/	div[1]/d
Name q						
Tag Name INPUT						
Class Na	ass Name gLFyf gsfi					
CSS Sel	SS Selector div:nth-child(1) > div:nth-child(1) > form:nth-chil				h-child(	
X Co-or	Co-ordinate 274					
Y Co-or	dinate	289				
<						>
Step Ger	neration					
Туре	Compos	ite				$\sim$
Step	New			$\sim$		
Action	New					
Critoria	Web Cor	nposite				
Criteria	X-Path					~
					<u>G</u> en	erate
Step [W	eb Comp	osite] ge	nerated in work	flow [GUIS	py_Web_	Demo]

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.



Note If multiple windows open up with the current spy URL, spy on an element on the windows or elements contained in frames; GUI Spy automatically handles the switching of windows or frames.

### 2.5.2.2 GUI Spy: Record (

GUI Spy: Record is a toggle button to start and stop recording activity.

1. Click the Start Recording button to start recording.



2. Click the Stop Recording button to stop recording.



- 3. Once you start the recording, it understands the mouse and the key actions.
- 4. It considers every element as windows by default until there is a preference for detecting web application while recording.
- 5. The GUI Recorder records the following actions.

No.	Record Actions	Description
i	Click	The recorder automatically detects click type on an actionable elements.
ii	Set/Write a value	<ul> <li>Recorder generates the set value step if a user,</li> <li>Types in a text field or</li> <li>Performs keyboard action ctrl +v on the text field</li> </ul>
iii	Read/Get value	To read the value of a particular element, hover the mouse on that element and press Ctrl + C.

6. Like GUI spy, the recorder handles complex window/frame tree switching activities internally and generates appropriate steps during workflow creation.

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.





In some cases, if GUI Recorder fails to highlight/record a few elements, use GUI Spy to generate steps for such element actions.

7. Once you click on stop recording, the recorder prompts the create workflow dialog. Confirm by clicking Yes to create a workflow with recorded steps; else, click No.



# 2.5.2.3 GUI Spy: Web page Windows (Google-AERecorder )

 If multiple windows open up with the current URL, you may select the desired window using the window combo box in the GUI Spy toolbar, as seen in the screenshot below. For example, in the snapshot below, we can see two windows in the drop-down list next GUI Spy icon. Select any window to highlight it and bring it to the forefront.



2. We can now spy web elements on that window.



- 3. If you switch to another window from the list,
  - The Web + Windows mode asks if you want to add a Web Switch Window step to the workflow, whether you switch windows through the GUI Spy list or otherwise.
  - The Web mode asks if you want to add a Web Switch window only if you select a window from the GUI Spy list; else, manually add the step to the workflow.



© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



### 2.5.2.4 GUI Spy: Refresh (

The Refresh icon reloads the web page.

13. Click the Refresh icon to reload the page. Reload also refreshes the list of windows in the drop-down.

# 2.5.2.5 GUI Spy: Start Highlighting (

If, for some reason, GUI Spy does not highlight elements, click on the Start Highlighting icon to resume.

- 1. On a browser (Specifically IE) when recording/spying is in progress, if the page is changed by some actions the highlighting stops.
- Click highlight icon on toolbar to start highlighting the elements again and continue spying/recording.

### 2.5.2.6 GUI Spy Frames (E)

#### Important:

Frame switching is automatic. Frame tree button should only be used in case of spy is not able to extract/highlight elements from particular frame.

In case you need to use Frames follow the steps below,

- 1. If you want to spy on element which is contained in a frame, then you need to switch to that frame. To do that you need to click on the frame icon on GUI Spy toolbar. It opens a dialog with frame tree where you can select any frame to which you want to switch.
- 2. The Frame icon is highlighted in the screen below. Click the Frame icon.
- 3. The Frame Tree for the current window appears as shown below.
- 4. Let us now GUI Spy the following URL https://automationedge.com
- 5. When the page is initialized the first time and all components are loaded.
- 6. Click on the Frames icon (E). The frame tree for the Current window is populated.

7. GUI Spy can detect any number of frames. If the page contains frames a Frame Tree window appears. Select any frame to which you want to switch. Click on "Main Page" to expand the tree. Click on the nodes to expand the hierarchy.



- 8. Select a parent frame and a child frame underneath, and then hover over any frame element. In case web elements are not highlighted on hover click Spy (Spy button turns from orange to white) and then hover the mouse pointer to highlight elements.
- 9. The following snapshot displays the expanded frame hierarchy. In the example below we are on Frame#0 under Main Page. The frame is highlighted in a green box as seen in the snapshot below.

ANDER FOR IT COM IT COM IT COM IT COM IT APPRICES INCOMPAGE CON IT APPRICES INCOMPAGE INTO INCOMPAGE INCOMPAGE INCOMPAGE INTO INCOMPAGE INCOMPAGE INCOMPAGE INTO INCOMPAGE INCOMPAGE INCOMPAGE INTO INCOMPAGE INCOMPAGE INCOMPAGE INCOMPAGE INCOMPAGE INTO INCOMPAGE INTO INCOMPAGE INCOMPAGE INCOMPAGE INTO INCOMPAGE INTO INCOMPAGE INCOMPAGE INTO INCOMPAGE INCOMPAGE INTO INCOMPAGE INCOMPAGE INTO INCOM		NONSERTION IN     COMMENDIAL     COMMENDIA	yperautomation for IT	Hyperautomation for Business	Solutions	Resources	Company
NCCELLE AUTOMATION DECODE AUTOMATION PRELIMATION PRELIMATOR DECODE AUTOMATION PRELIMATOR DECODE AUTOMATION PRELIMATOR DECODE AUTOMATION DECODE AUTOMATICA AUTOMATION DECODE AUTOMATICA AUTOMATICA AUTOMATICA AUTOM	Rest         Partners         Addamental         Partners         Addamental         Partners	INDEC IN LATIONAL OF ROCCESSION AND FUEL IN A DC AND				BROMES .	A WARAT WE TOO
exert initializando: ETRE a lando: en contrar en contra	ETAL SETVICE     EXAMPLE	Here S KITELICIPACE LIKE & FMAS LIKE F 1945 LIKE F 19				DATADHETIN	WHY AUTOMATICMEDIE
National Text         COOD FOR Buildes         EV BOARDY         Vector Revendes         Constant           And Formation         Bit Acade Mail         Bit Acade Mail <t< td=""><td>COODE FOR BOOMERSE         21 моловитстоя         11 моловитстоя         11 моловитстоя         14 моловитстоя         14</td><td>Licke Front COOD FOR BEURINDES #1 HOUSTROM TOW WHITE POPURE IS a Finance To COOD FOR BEURINDES #1 HOUSTROM TOW WHITE POPURE IS a Finance To CONT TOY TOW TOW TOW TOW TOW TOW TOW TOW TOW TOW</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>viceos ~ Main Pres</td><td>KACUT THE TEAM</td></t<>	COODE FOR BOOMERSE         21 моловитстоя         11 моловитстоя         11 моловитстоя         14	Licke Front COOD FOR BEURINDES #1 HOUSTROM TOW WHITE POPURE IS a Finance To COOD FOR BEURINDES #1 HOUSTROM TOW WHITE POPURE IS a Finance To CONT TOY TOW				viceos ~ Main Pres	KACUT THE TEAM
Initial Control (Control)         Extension         Initial Control (Control)         Initian Control (Control)         Initian Control (C	воториториторитори на дитескитори на на простисти на на простисти на на простисти на прости на прости на прости на простисти на простисти на п	Beine Besin Auronantinan Bernard State Contract State				WHETERROENS & E	OVPEERS
	Same ADDITANTION         Livering         Fragmets	See ADTONNEYEN     See CONSISTENT     France #3     France #3     France #3       JERSC REVE TO NEWSLETTER     Rather to ATX PROCESSARE     Water Made     Book       mail     Partners     France     Book       Work Email     Reverse to ATX Processare     Book     Book       Work Email     Partners     France #3     Book +1 participation (France       Work Email     Partners     France #3     Book +1 participation (France       Work Email     Partners     France #3     Book +1 participation (France       Work Email     Partners     France #3     Book +1 participation (France       Work Email     Partners     France #3     Book +1 participation (France       Work Email     Partners     France #3     Book +1 participation (France       Work Email     Partners     France #3     Book +1 participation (France       Work Email     Partners     France #3     Book +1 participation (France       Work Email     Partners     France #3     Book +1 participation (France       Work Email     Partners     France #3     Partners       Partners     France #3     Partners     Partners       Partners     Partners     Partners     Partners       Partners     Partners     Partners     Partners <tr< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>(IEVa) Frame#3</td><td>CONTROL</td></tr<>				(IEVa) Frame#3	CONTROL
RATEST DITA RECORDANCE WESHING SCRIBETO NEWSLETTER IN COST OCYARIA CALL IN COST AND Partners FINE TRUL LIER -1 201 1201 (1977 / Small	натект илтя иносеванае извеннае R   Contact Us  Partners  Partners  R  Partners  Partne	AGTEST DLTA PROCESSAIE JESS RIBE TO NEWSLETTER INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA INDIA IN				EVENTE Frame#5	Filip
escrate TD NewsLETTER TO NewsLETTER Contact Us	R	UIESC REBE TO NEWSLETTER 0 OG CONVERSION mail Partners maker of the Conversion of t				WERWARS	
et Partners Parts Law State St	Partners Tweet as com-	Image: Source of the second state of the second s	BSCRIBE TO NEWSLETTER			m.oca	Contact Un
all Partners Partners Use + 1 201 220 USE / Line	Partners to the state of the st	mail Partners FRETRial. 646 + 3 21 120 1907 / Small Work Email Reconstraint Partners constraint Partners const				OCIWHE CARDS	Contact Os
	TRANSIST & COLOR	Work Email ULE 47014 data KED / food Konker Email Economic E care Sconke Animelia Producted by reCAPTOHA Producted by reCAPTOHA	hait		Partners	FREE TRIMA.	UBA: +1 201 200 1007 / 001-0
Treaters 5 CEP 104 1971 4 473 070 / 1000		Architel E Constantial Constantian Constan	Made Ermail			TRANSPOLA CONT	104E_+9771 = 42 = 50770 2 (01000
PARTICLE SECURITY IN CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR OF	HARTINGS ECONSTITUTION CONTRACTOR CONTR	profected by neCAPTCHA Newsy - terms	PROFIL COMM		PARTIES ECOSYSTEM	A STREET AND A STREET A	India: +91 20 67255000 7 8 mm
		Protected by reCAPTORIA Primage Jeans			Bohotic Process Aut -	n 💌 🙉 🚱 斗	
BECHE A PRIATILE B	BECOME A POINT A	producted by seCAPTCHA Away - Iners			REDOME A PORTNER		
👬 🚇 Behetir Process Aut 🗸 🔿 🔲 🐂 🔗 🦉 😓		protected by wEAPCHA			📕 Robotic Process Aut 🗠 💽 🔳 💺	🗈 🛤 🥝 🤒 😤 , 📩	
	🔲 💮 Robertic Process Autr 🛩 🔿 🗖 🧮 📓 🐺 🥥 😒 😓	Ander-Seek	protected by reCAPTCHA				
protected by reCAPTCHA	🔥 💽 Reperse Process Aut 🖉 🗘 🔲 🦆 🗟 📖 🖉 👰 🔆		Hintey-Toma				
protected by reCAPTCHA	📥 🔘 Robert C Process Aut 🛁 🔿 🖿 🧱 🖉 🥥 🧐 📩						· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
protected by reCAPTO1A							
protected by reCAPTCHA							Maile beauting the second
protected by reCAPTCHA	A CODOLC Process Aut O I I II	Helio, how may I he	SUBMIT				Helio, how may I help you

If you switch to frame, spying on that will start automatically. To be able to spy on rest of the document select **Main page** from tree; you additionally need to manually add the Web Switch Frame step with the Locate By Default option. As soon as you select another frame spying from first frame stops.

Note

This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.



# 2.5.2.7 GUI Spy: Get Source (

Download the source code of the current page using the Source icon on the GUI Spy toolbar.

- 1. Click the Get Source icon on GUI Spy.
- 2. A Windows Explorer dialogue box to save the Source Code opens. Navigate to an appropriate directory path to save the Source Code. Specify a name for the file. Click Save.

👬 Specify a file to sav	8	×
$\leftarrow$ $\rightarrow$ $\checkmark$ $\bigstar$	> This PC > Local Disk (C:)  v 💍 Search Local	al Disk (C:)
Organize 🔹 New	folder	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
<ul> <li>3D Objects</li> <li>Desktop</li> <li>Documents</li> <li>Downloads</li> <li>Music</li> <li>Pictures</li> <li>Videos</li> <li>Local Disk (C:)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Name</li> <li>ProgramData</li> <li>temp</li> <li>test</li> <li>Tutorials</li> <li>Users</li> <li>Windows</li> <li>Pictures - Shortcut</li> </ul>	Date modified       >/ 24/2021 135 PIVI         6/4/2021 8:21 AM       6/16/2021 3:18 PM         6/9/2021 3:05 PM       5/28/2021 10:49 AM         11/3/2020 5:36 PM       5/3/2021 3:17 PM         3/24/2021 9:39 AM       ✓
File name:	mit_edu_source_code	~
Save as type:	-TML files Save	Cancel



### 2.5.2.8 GUI Spy: Locate Element (

Locate Element locates an element on the web page based on an element attribute value.

- 1. In the screenshot below, click the highlighted Locate Element on the GUI Spy toolbar.
- 2. The Locate Element window pops up. Select a criterion from the drop-down list, provide a known value for criteria in the text box on the right and click Locate to locate the element on the web page.

G Google-AERecorder-CDwindow- 🗴 🔮 Google My Business – Drive Cust 🗴 🕇 🕂	0	_		×
← → C 🔒 google.com		• •		:
Gmail Images Sector Locate Element K-Path Id Name Class Name Class Name Class Selector		Į	ाइन इन	
Q 🔳 🤳				
Google Search आज मेरी किस्मत अच्छी है Google का इस्तेमाल इन भाषाओं में किया जा सकता है: English बारण கலல் मराठी தமிழ் ગુજરાતી ಕನ್ನಡ മലയാളം ਪੰਜ 💏 🔵 Google-AERecorder v 🔿 🗖 🏣	নাৰ্ঘ্ব	Ø 8	4 <u>4</u> 4	
भारत				
परिचय विज्ञापन व्यवसाय 'सर्च' कैसे काम करता है निजता शतैं सेटिंग				

3. Clicking the highlighted element deselects it and erases the field value from the Locate Element dialog.

### **Known Limitation:**

• If a Link Text element locator contains the "&" sign, it shows it as &amp, so correct it before locating elements.



### 2.5.2.9 GUI Spy: Navigate to URL (

While spying element on a web page, if there is a need to navigate to another URL, use the Navigate to URL icon.

1. Click Navigate icon to navigate to another URL and optionally create a Navigate to URL step.

Upon clicking Navigate to URL, a Navigate dialog appears as below. Provide the navigation URL and optionally enable the 'Add Navigation Step on successful navigation' check box. Enabling the checkbox creates a Navigate to URL step in the workflow.



2. The drop-down list now contains the window name of the new URL.

👬 🔴 Stanford University- 👻 💭 📘 📑 💁 🛃 🧭 😫
------------------------------------------

### 2.5.2.10 GUI Spy: Close GUI Spy (

Closed GUI Spy when Spying is complete or as required,

- 1. Click on the Close GUI Spy icon to close GUI Spy.
- 2. Alternatively, click on the Move Toolbar icon. Click Ctrl +Q to close GUI Spy

### 2.5.2.11 GUI Spy: Move Toolbar (

Move the tollbar as required,

1. Click on the Move Toolbar icon, and while clicked, move Mouse to move the GUI Spy toolbar to an appropriate location.

Refer to	Project 8	S. CIII	Snv	for Web in	
	1 1010010				

AutomationEdge\_ProcessStudio\_Activity\_Guide\_R7.0.0 for a sample

Note: workflow with steps to identify elements with GUI Spy.

<sup>© 2021</sup> AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



### 2.6 GUI Spy for Windows

Process Studio GUI Spy for Windows extracts Windows applications element attributes for GUI Plugins steps. GUI Spy is a compact toolbar and occupies a minimum screen area to spy on a Windows application with ease. Upon spying, it opens a Generate Step Window with two sections – Attributes table and Step Generation; change configurations if required and generate GUI plugin steps for Windows elements.

### 2.6.1 Start Using Spy for Windows

Start Windows Spy from the Process Studio toolbar or using Shortcut/Hotkeys to open GUI Spy for windows. Following are the steps,

- 1. Add a new folder to the Spy project. Name the folder Windows Spy. Windows Spy folder is now available.
- Navigate to Tools→Spy→Windows Spy to open Spy. Alternatively, use the shortcut Ctrl+alt+w



3. If there is no active workflow, respond to the warning message to create a new workflow.



4. If there are multiple projects, select the project in which to create the workflow.

🞯 Sel	ect Project	Х
Project	Ѕру	$\sim$
	Select Cancel	

5. Provide a name for the workflow, say GUISpy\_Windows\_Demo.

Project Explorer	2	* Workflow	v1 #\	🗱 Breakpoints 🗢 Watch Variables
Search	는 #= 49			
<ul> <li>Workspace - Tutorials</li> <li>GUI Spy</li> <li>Workflows and Pr</li> </ul>	ocerter			No breakpoints found in this Workspace!
+ GUISpy_Web_E	Demo.psw	Save As		×
🛅 Resources	Sav	e in Folder.	file:///D:/Getting Started/Tutorials/GUI Spy 🗸 🔯 😝	<del>9</del>
≷ View  Design Steps	Na v	me GUI Spy * GUISpy	r_Web_Demo.psw	jearch L Q ⊙ + & t= #
Amazon EC2 Amazon EC2 BMC Remedy BMC Remedy (REST) CAPTCHA CAPTCHA Cherwell Desktop	File	name: GUIS	jpy_Windows_Demo OK Cance	2
	e .			

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.
6. The GUI Spy window opens. For GUI automation for Windows, uncheck the Web checkbox.

GUI Spy		$\times$
Automate 🖂	Web 🗹 Windows	
URL h	ttps://www.google.co.in	
Browser Go	oogle Chrome 🗸	
	Find windows element indices.	
	Go	

7. The GUI Spy window displays as below.

GUI Spy	$\times$
Automate 🗌 Web 🗹 Windows	
Find windows element indices.	
	Go

- 8. GUI Spy for Windows toolbar opens, as seen at the bottom right in the screenshot below.
- 9. If the Spy icon on the toolbar is orange, then Spy is in inactive mode. Else with a white background, it is in the active mode.



### 2.6.2 GUI Spy for Windows toolbar components

### 2.6.2.1 GUI Spy: Spy (👪)

1. Windows Spy Interface opens with its icons seen below.



- 2. All possible Windows elements can be detected using Windows Spy.
- 3. Click the lens. The background of the lens turns white.



- 4. When the background of the lens is white, it is in Spy mode.
- Now hover over the element to Spy. Press the keyboard key 'right Shift' or back tick (') to highlight it in blue color.

6. In this example, a blue box surrounds the Computer Value field on the 'Remote Desktop Connection window. The Generate step window also opens up.

Project Explorer	R AG	JISov Windows Demo			🖧 Breakpoints 🗢 Watch Variables
Search	🐣 Generate Step	- 🗆 ×	~		
~ 🥹 Workspace - Tut	Attributes				<ul> <li>No breakpoints found in this</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>✓ ④ GUI Spy</li> <li>✓ ➡ Workflows</li> <li>★ GUISpy</li> <li>★ GUISpy</li> <li>➡ Resources</li> </ul>	Attribute         Value           Window Path         /w[Desk           Absolute XPath         /Combo           XPath         //Edit@           AutomationId         5012	top]/w[Remote Desktop Connection] Box[0]/Edit[0] ØAutomationId="5012"]		😽 Remote Desktop Connectic	Workspace!
	Name Comput Class Name Edit Control Type Control AccessKey Alt+c	er: Type:Edit		Remote De Connect	esktop cion
	HelpText Example Supported Patterns ValuePat Frameworkld Win32	e: computer.fabrikam.com tternloentifiers.Pattern,TextPatternloentifiers.Pattern,Le		Computer User name None specified	Enter a full remote computer
Niew Design	Step Generation			name.	
> C Active Directo	Step	Get Value ~	oibı	Show Options	Cognect Help
> AirWatch	Window Path	/w[Desktop]/w[Remote Desktop Connection] v 3	ce		
> 🛅 BMC Remedy	Action	Text ~			
BMC Remedy	Criteria	Absolute XPath ~			
CAPICHA	Criteria Value	/ComboBox[0]/Edit[0] v @			ðið 🔵 😣 💠
> 🛅 Desktop	Element Index (Starts with 0)	0 0			
<ul> <li>Coogle Sprea</li> <li>GUI Automati</li> <li>Intune</li> </ul>	Output Field Name	✓ Ø Highlight Generate			

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.

7. Change the Step and Action from the drop-down list depending on the operation to be performed. Provide a Step Name. Windows Title Regex for the application is also populated. Click the Highlight button to highlight the element as seen in blue below, and click Generate button to generate the step.

	🚜 Generate Step	— 🗆 X	Tanan	
Search	Attributes		100% ~	A
<ul> <li>♥ Workspa</li> <li>♥ O GUI Si</li> <li>♥ ♥ ♥ ♥</li> <li>♥ ♥ ♥</li> <li>♥ ♥</li> <li>♥ ■ Ref</li> </ul>	Attribute Value Window Path /w[Des Absolute XPath /Comb XPath //Edit[ AutomationId 5012 Name Compu Class Name Edit Control Type Control AccessKey Alt+c HelpText Examp] Supported Patterns ValuePa Frameworkid Win32 c	ktop]/w[Remote Desktop Connection] Box[0]/Edit[0] PAutomationId = "5012"] ter: Type.Edit e: computer.fabrikam.com ttemIdentifiers.Pattern,LextPattemIdentifiers.Pattern,Lex	Remote Desktop Connection Remote Desktop Connection	- 0 X
View / De	Step Generation		Computer Example computer rabinsm.com	
Steps	Step	Set Value ~	The computer name field is blank. Enter a full remote	computer
Steps	Step Step Name	Set Value ~ Remote IP	P The computer name field is blank. Enter a full remote name	computer
Steps Active	Step Step Name Window Path	Set Value v Remote IP /w[Desktop]/w[Remote Desktop Cannection] v 0	P The computer name field is blank. Enter a full remote name.	Cognect Help
Steps Active AirWat Amazo BMC R	Step Step Name Window Path Action	Set Value v Remote IP /w[Desktop]/w[Remote Desktop Connection] v 0 Set New Text v	P The computer name field is blank. Enter a full remote name.	Cognect Help
Steps Active AirWat Amazo BMC R BMC R	Step Step Name Window Path Action Criteria	Set Value   Remote IP  /w[Desktop]/w[Remote Desktop Connection]   Set New Text  Absolute XPath	P The computer name field is blank. Enter a full remote name.	Cognect Help
Steps Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive Charactive	Step Step Name Window Path Action Criteria Criteria Value	Set Value   Remote IP  /w[Desktop]/w[Remote Desktop Cannection]   Set New Text  Absolute XPath  /ComboBox[0]/Edit[0]   0	P The computer name field is blank. Enter a full remote name.	Cognect Help
Steps Active AirWat AirWat Amazc BMC R BMC R BMC R CAPTC Cherw Desktc	Step Step Name Window Path Action Criteria Criteria Value Element Index (Starts with 0)	Set Value   Remote IP  /w[Desktop]/w[Remote Desktop Cannection]  Set New Text  Absolute XPath  /ComboBox[0]/Edit[0]  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0	P The computer name field is blank. Enter a full remote name.	Cognect Help

- 8. Pressing the 'Generate' Button adds a new step to workflow with the provided configurations.
- 9. The Step list in the window "Generate Step" above changes as per the element detected.

It depends on the type of action it supports. e.g. let say the element detected is of type textbox. So it has a step list – Element Action, Set Value, Get Value, Mouse Action. While for the element of type checkbox step list is Element Action, Mouse Action.

10. The actions in the Action list also change for element types. Click Generate.

This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.



### 2.6.2.2 Windows Spy from Step

You can start GUI Spy from the step dialog in most of the GUI plugin windows steps. In this section, we will start Windows Spy from the plugin step.

We recommend using GUI Spy from Step to edit existing windows steps rather than creating a new and similar step from the applications.

Start Spy from a Step dialog. Following are the steps to start Windows Spy from a plugin step.

- 1. Let us continue with the Set Value step we generated in the previous section. It sets the IP address on the 'Remote Desktop Connection' windows application.
- 2. Double click the step to open the configuration window, as seen below.
- 3. Click on any configuration item to enable the Edit Element button and click the Edit Element to start Windows Spy from step.

note IP						
🖫 Set Value				-	- 0	х
						🔒 Help
Step name	Remote IP					
Write Parameter						
	Criteria	Criteria Value	Element index(	Write Type	Input Text	-
1 /w[Desktop]/w[Remote Desktop Connection]	Absolute XPath	/ComboBox[0]/Edit[0]	0	Set New Text	10.51.4.161	
Timeout (In seconds	)					~ ©
	OK	Cancel Edit Elem	ent			



4. The Action field disabled.

🔒 Edit Step Elem	ent	—	$\times$
Attributes			
Attribute	Value		
Window Path	/w[Desk	top]/w[Remote Desktop Connection]	
Absolute XPath	/Combo	Box[0]/Edit[0]	
XPath	//Edit[@	AutomationId="5012"]	
AutomationId	5012		
Name	Comput	er:	
Class Name	Edit		
Control Type	Control	Type.Edit	
AccessKey	Alt+c		
HelpText	Example	e: computer.fabrikam.com	
HelpText Supported Pattern	Example ns ValuePa	e: computer.fabrikam.com tternldentifiers.Pattern,TextPatternldentifiers.Patt	ern
HelpText Supported Pattern Frameworkld	Example Ns ValuePar Win32	e: computer.fabrikam.com tternldentifiers.Pattern,TextPatternldentifiers.Patt	ern
HelpText Supported Pattern Frameworkld	Example NS ValuePa Win32	e: computer.fabrikam.com tternldentifiers.Pattern,TextPatternldentifiers.Patt	ern
HelpText Supported Pattern Frameworkld Step Generation	Example ValuePa Win32	e: computer.fabrikam.com tternldentifiers.Pattern,TextPatternldentifiers.Patt	ern
HelpText Supported Pattern FrameworkId C Step Generation	Example NS ValuePa Win32	e: computer.fabrikam.com tternldentifiers.Pattern,TextPatternldentifiers.Patt	ern
HelpText Supported Pattern Frameworkld < Step Generation	Example s ValuePa Win32 Step Step Name	e: computer.fabrikam.com tternldentifiers.Pattern,TextPatternldentifiers.Patt Set Value Remote IP	ern
HelpText Supported Pattern Frameworkld < Step Generation W	Example s ValuePa Win32 Step Step Name indow Path	e: computer.fabrikam.com tternldentifiers.Pattern,TextPatternldentifiers.Patt Set Value Remote IP /w[Desktop]/w[Remote Desktop Connection]	ern v
HelpText Supported Pattern Frameworkld <b>Step Generation</b> W	Example s ValuePa Win32 Step Step Name indow Path Action	e: computer.fabrikam.com tternldentifiers.Pattern,TextPatternldentifiers.Patt Set Value Remote IP /w[Desktop]/w[Remote Desktop Connection] Set New Text	ern V
HelpText Supported Pattern Frameworkld <b>Step Generation</b> W	Example ValuePa Win32 Step Step Name indow Path Action Criteria	e: computer.fabrikam.com tternldentifiers.Pattern,TextPatternldentifiers.Patt Set Value Remote IP /w[Desktop]/w[Remote Desktop Connection] Set New Text Absolute XPath	×
HelpText Supported Pattern Frameworkld C Step Generation W W	Example s ValuePa Win32 Step Name indow Path Action Criteria iteria Value	e: computer.fabrikam.com tternIdentifiers.Pattern,TextPatternIdentifiers.Patt Set Value Remote IP /w[Desktop]/w[Remote Desktop Connection] Set New Text Absolute XPath /ComboBox[0]/Edit[0]	×
HelpText Supported Pattern Frameworkld C Step Generation W W Cr Element Index (St	Example s ValuePa Win32 Step Name indow Path Action Criteria iteria Value arts with 0)	e: computer.fabrikam.com tternldentifiers.Pattern,TextPatternldentifiers.Patt Set Value Remote IP /w[Desktop]/w[Remote Desktop Connection] Set New Text Absolute XPath /ComboBox[0]/Edit[0] 0	× ×

- 5. Opening spy with the Edit Element button from a step restricts it to the step. As seen above, the Step field is not editable, and Spy detects only relevant elements to the step. We can call it a 'Step Restricted Spy'. For example,
  - Suppose spy starts from the 'Set Value' step. Now spy is restricted to elements that support Set Value in the same or other applications.
  - Suppose spy starts from the 'window action' step. Now spy is restricted to elements of type 'Window' only. It will highlight all the elements of type 'window' in blue color. If we try to detect elements other than type 'Window', it highlights it in 'Red' color.
- 6. In summary, we recommend the use of Edit Element to edit the existing step configuration it highlights all elements that support a step in blue color. If we try to detect non supported elements, it highlights them in 'Red' color.
- 7. You may also use Hotkeys to detect elements. Pressing 'right Shift' or back tick (`), will help you know if the element is supported for the step.

<sup>© 2021</sup> AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



The following is a demonstration,

Hover the Options drop-down and Press right Shift or back tick (`). The following screen shows that the drop-down is not a supported element step since it has a red outline.

te IP Attributes								
Attribute	Value							
Window Pa	th /w[Desk	top]/w[Remote Desktop Connection	ũ.					
Absolute X	Path /Combo	Box[0]/Edit[0]						
XPath	//Edit[@	AutomationId="5012"]		Pomote	Decision Connection	-		5
Automation	nld 5012			- Mentore	Deskiop Connection			-
Name	Comput	es			Remote Desktor	)		
Class Name	Edit			100	Connection			
Control Typ	e Control1	Type.Edit		0.00	connection			
AccessKey	Alt+c							
HelpText	Example	e: computer.fabrikam.com		Computer	Example: computer labrika	m com 💛		
Supported	Patterns ValuePat	tternidentifiers Pattern, lextPatternide	entitiers.Pattern,Lee	Username	None specified			
Framework	d win32							
Step Genera	tion			name.	er name held is blank. Enter a t	il remote computer		
	(tee	Post Marine		Show C	ptions	Cognect	Hei	P
	Step	200 Voltac					11	-
	Step Name	Remote IP						
	Window Path	/w[Desktop]/w[Remote Desktop Co	onnection] V 🖾					
	Action	Set New Text	~					
	Criteria	Absolute XPath	~					
	Criteria Value	/ComboBox[0]/Edit[0]	v 🛛		A5. (	) 🔿 🚓		
Element Inc	lex (Starts with 0)	0	~ 6		00			
	Input Text	10.51.4.161	v (0)					

Hover over the Computer field value and press right Shift or back tick (`). The field gets a blue border immediately, and the Edit Step Element window also opens; since the Set Value step is valid for the input step.



86 Edit Step Element	- 🗆 X		
Attributes			
Attribute	Value		
Window Path	w[Desktop]/w[Remote Desktop Connection]		
Absolute XPath	ComboBox[0]/Edit[0]		
XPath	//Edit[@AutomationId="5012"]		
AutomationId	5012		
Name	Computer	Remote Desktop Connection	- 0
Class Name	Edit	Pamoto Dackton	
Control Type	Control Type. Edit	Remote Desktop	
AccessKey	Alt+c	as Connection	
HelpText	Example: computer.fabrikam.com		
Supported Patterns	ValuePatternIdentifiers.Pattern,TextPatternIdentifiers.Pattern,Le	Computer Example computer fabrikam.com	
Frameworkld	Win32		
<	>	Username. None specified	
Step Generation		The computer name field is blank. Enter a full remote	e computer
	Step Set Value	Hall re.	
Step	Name Remote IP	Show Options	Cognect Help
Windo	w Path /w[Desktop]/w[Remote Desktop Connection] v 💿		
	Action Set New Text ~		
	Criteria Absolute XPath ~		
Criteri	a Value /ComboBox[0]/Edit[0] v 🔊		
Element Index (Starts	with 0) 0	at 😑 😒	+ <b>2</b> +
Inc	ut Text 10.51.4.161		
	Highlight Save		

Notice Step dropdown is disabled and value selected is 'Set Value' since we are spying from a step.

## 2.6.2.3 GUI Spy: Record (

It's a toggle button to start and stop recording activity.

### 2.6.2.4 GUI Spy: Close GUI Spy (

Click on the Close Spy icon to close GUI Spy.



### 2.6.2.5 GUI Spy: Move Toolbar (

Left Click on the Move Toolbar icon and simultaneously move Mouse to move the GUI Spy toolbar to an appropriate location.



	Refer to Project 8: GUI Spy for Windows in
<u>a</u>	AutomationEdge_ProcessStudio_Activity_Guide_R7.0.0 for a sample
Note:	workflow with steps to identify elements with Desktop Spy.

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.



### 2.7 GUI Spy Limitations and Known Issues

#### Limitations:

- 1. GUI Spy does not yet support alerts.
- 2. Web Recording does not support Cross-domain applications fully.
- 3. Windows elements recording does not support Form fill activity using tab traversal.
- 4. During recording sessions, manually refreshing a page is not allowed. You can continue to record without refreshing/restarting the spy. But if you want to start from beginning then you need to restart spy.
- 5. Web recording can be performed only for highlighted elements.
- 6. Cross-domain applications and iframes are not fully supported yet in case of web recording. You can try every application and let us know if not working in some cases.
- 7. Form fill activity using tab traversal is not yet supported in windows elements recording.
- During web recording sessions, an element you are acting upon should be highlighted. In other words, whatever action you are going to perform it will be performed on highlighted elements.
- 9. On Linux you need to manually add switch window step as there's no desktop support.
- 10. Some auto complete input boxes are not supported in recording but those inputs can be automated using spy.
- 11. If a Link Text element locator contains the "&" sign, it shows it as &amp, so correct it before locating elements.
- 12. Scrolling action in Windows applications is not captured by GUI Recorder.

#### Known Issues:

- 1. Sometimes submitting a form in GUI recording for Web, using a button click creates two similar steps, and submitting a form using enter key does not create the submit click step.
- 2. GUI recording of Windows applications password fields generates the step but does not capture the password value.
- 3. In GUI Automation for Windows applications, for some elements,
  - Get Value step does not capture its value.
  - The Recorder does not record the values written or set by a user.
- 4. When switching to a child frame, a Switch to Frame (to Default), Switch to Frame (to parent frame) and Switch to Frame (to child frame) steps are added in the workflow. You can manually remove the Switch to Frame (to Default) and Switch to Frame (to parent frame) steps if desirable to reduce the length of the workflow.
- 5. Inside a frame, on a page, if we click a link that takes us to another page; on the second page, if GUI Spy does not highlight elements, toggle GUI Spy and highlight them.



### 2.8 GUI Spy for Windows Best practices

The following are best practices to select Criteria for element detection,

• Preferably detect elements with Criteria having element index 0 (i.e. unique elements). Avoid using element index greater than 0 (e.g. class name in the snapshot below). Instead, select the element having the element index as 0.

Attributes						
Attribute	Value					
Window Path	/w[Des	top]/w[CRM Application - Built with Progress® Telenk® UI for WPF]				
Absolute XPath	/Progre	ssBar[0]/Custom[4]/Custom[0]/DataGrid[0]/Custom[0]/DataItem[9]/Custom[1]/Text[0]	0			
XPath	//Texti	©AutomationI	0			
AutomationId	CellEler	nent_31_2	0			
Name	JustTra	ce - 6 premium licences	0			
Class Name	TextBlo	ck	66			
Control Type	Control	Type.Text	66			
Supported Patterns	Synchri	onizedInputPattemIdentifiers.Pattern				
FrameworkId	WPF					
itep Generation	Sten	for Value				
Ste	n Name	Get Pascription of Bem 9				
Wind	ow Path	/w[Desktop]/w[CRM Application - Built with Progress® Telerik® UI for WPF]				
	Action	Text		-		
	Criteria	Absolute XPath				
Criteria Value //ProgressBer[0]/Custom[4]/Custo Element Index (Starts with 0) 0		/ProgressBer[0]/Custom[4]/Custom[0]/DataGrid[0]/Custom[0]/DataItem[9]/Custom[1]	/Text[0]	• 3		
		η [0				
Output Fiel	d Name	Description				

- If some Criteria are dynamic, then use Criteria for which Criteria value is constant (such as, If Absolute XPath or AutomationID are dynamic use Criteria Name if its value remains constant). For example, absolute XPath is best for static application structure with dynamic element names.
- Use All criteria every time you have an application with no window name or if a spy doesn't provide any absolute XPath or element index.
- While generating step or editing step, with criteria All, replace any non-consistent criteria value with a blank value.



## 2.9 GUI Spy Workarounds

The following are GUI Spy workarounds,

• If the element index in the snapshot below is null/not working, then in Criteria, select All.

Attributes						
Attribute	Value					
Window Path	/w[Des	top]/w[CRM Application - Built with Progress® Telerik® UI for WPF]				
Absolute XPath	/Progre	ssBar[0]/Custom[4]/Custom[0]/DataGrid[0]/Custom[0]/DataItem[9]/Custom[1]/Text[0]	0			
XPath	//Texti	PAutomationI	0			
AutomationId	CellEler	nent_31_2	0			
Name	JustTra	ce - 6 premium licences	0			
Class Name	TextBlo	ck	66			
Control Type	Control	Type.Text	66			
Supported Patterns	Synchro	onizedInputPattemIdentifiers.Pattem				
FrameworkId	WPF					
Ste	Step p Name ow Path	Get Value Get Description of Item 9 /wIDesktop/wJCRM Application - Built with Progress® Telerik® UI for WPFI				
	Action	Text				
	Criteria	Absolute XPath				
Criter	ia Value	/ProgressBar[0]/Custom[4]/Custom[0]/DataGrid[0]/Custom[0]/DataItem[9]/Custom[1]	/DataItem[9]/Custom[1]/Text[0]			
Element Index (Starts	s with D)	0 -				
Output Fiel	d Name	Description				

- While trying to detect an element, the user can take an alternative approach if it gives a red border; copy the windows path and criteria values from a different configuration of the same step, or else from another step where it detects the element with a blue border.
- Suppose there are limited Actions in the drop-down in mouse-click, then copy the windows path and criteria value and manually create the step on the element with desired Action.
- In Mouse action, if drag-drop is not working, use the Set Value step.
- We cannot use Windows Action on dialog windows. Instead, we use Mouse Action-Click, or Surface plugin– surface Click or robot handling.
- If Get Table Data is not working, use the Get Value step in a loop to fetch the table data row by row.
- Any Windows element encountered during Web + Windows mode that you cannot record or spy; then records/spy them in the Windows only mode.



## **3** Appendix 3: Desktop Spy Tutorial

### 3.1 Introduction

Desktop Plugin is helpful for .Net based Windows applications and Applet based applications. Process Studio Desktop Spy is used to extract windows element attributes.

### 3.2 **Prerequisites**

Following are the prerequisites for Desktop Plugin,

- Windows Operating System
- Install jdk and set JAVA\_HOME, JRE\_HOME environment variables.
- Windows .NET framework 4.6 and above
- Process Studio full pathname should not have any spaces.
- Chrome browser is required to run Desktop Spy for AE releases prior to R5.3.0.
- License is required to run Desktop Spy and Desktop plugins. The license can be acquired and applied by contacting AutomationEdge Inc. (Refer to the Desktop plugin documentation above for how to apply the License).



### 3.3 Setup

Desktop Spy fetches the configuration parameters required in Desktop plugin steps.

Follow the steps below to set up and use Desktop Spy.

- 1. Create a new folder in Spy Project. Name the folder Desktop Spy.
- 2. Desktop Spy folder is now visible in the project.



© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

- 1. To use Desktop Spy, configure Process Studio Options Desktop Spy Port and Desktop Runtime Port as seen in the snapshots below.
- 2. In Process Studio, go to the Tools menu and click on Options...



3. Set or change Desktop Spy Port and Desktop Runtime Port if required or leave it to the default values.

Process Studio Options	X
General Look & Feel	
Preview data batch size:	1000
Max number of lines in the logging windows:	5000
Central log line store timeout in minutes:	720
Max number of lines in the log history views:	50
Number of Browsers	2
Desktop Spy Port	 0001
Deskton Runtime Port	0002
Show welcome page at startury	3392
Use database cache:	
Open last file at startup:	
Autosave changed files:	
Only show the active file in the main tree:	
Only save used connections to XML:	
Replace existing objects on open/import:	
Ask before replacing objects:	
Show Save dialog:	
Automatically split hops:	
Show Copy or Distribute dialog:	
Show repository dialog at startup:	
Ask user when exiting:	
Clear custom parameters (steps/plugins):	0
Auto collapse palette tree:	
Display tooltips:	
Show help tooltips:	
	OK Cancel

4. You are now ready to start using Desktop Spy.

This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.



## 3.4 Start using Desktop Spy

Follow the steps below to get started with Desktop Spy.

1. To launch GUI Spy, go to the Tools menu and click Spy→Desktop Spy sub-menu.

∧ AutomationEdge Proc	ess Studio - [no name]			
<u>File Edit View Action</u>	Tools <u>H</u> elp			
🔁 🗁 🖬 🖬 🖟 😂 🕶 [	Wizard >			
😂 Project Explorer	Options			
Search	Sync Plugins			1
w 😣 Workspace – Tutoria	Spy >	Desktop Spy	CTRL+ALT+D	
v 🛞 Spy	Show plugin information	Surface Spy	CTRL+ALT+S	
v 🛅 Workflows and	Check for Updates	GUI Spy	CTRL+ALT+W	J
🛅 Desktop Sp	Clear all browser instances			
🗎 Web Spy		-		
> 🗆 Resources				
View / Design				
Explorer				
Workflows				
Processes				

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

2. If there is no active workflow, a warning dialog is shown. Click OK to create a new Workflow.



3. Name the workflow Read.

AutomationEdge Process Studio - Workflow 1			22
File Edit View Action Tools Help			
ᄚᅘ▯◪╔╶흫▫◲			1150
Project Explorer	12	🔆 Workflow 1 🖾	
Search	と #= ++		
Workspace - Tutorials  Workspace - Tutorials  Workflows and Processes  Desktop Spy  P Web Spy  P Resources  Veb Spy  P Resources  Vec Montflows  Workflows  Workflows  Steps Hops	) ta ta ta s=	Save As Save in Folder: file:///D/Process Studio Workspaces/Tutorials/Spy/Desktop Spy Name Spy Desktop Spy Desktop Spy Desktop Spy Filename: Read	
			*

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.

4. Click Desktop Spy. Desk Spy opens in the foreground to Process Studio, as seen in the snapshot below.

🔨 AutomationEdge Process Studio - Read			2
File Edit View Action Tools Help			
Project Explorer	)원	Read 23	
Search	1: 1: 4	● •    ○ ● 改 • G Ø ♬ 📓 🖻 100% •	0
<ul> <li>Workspece - Tutorials</li> <li></li></ul>		AutomationEdge Desktop Spy	
View 🖉 Design	)입 는 8=	Accessor:  button("Start")  Alternatives: Value: Start	
CCR     AirWatch     Azure DevOps	ш	Mode: WINDOWS/	
BMC Remedy     BMC Remedy (REST)     CAPTCHA			
Chervell  Chervell  Chervell  Chervel  Chervel Chervel Chervel  Chervel Chervel Chervel Chervel Chervel Chervel Chervel Chervel Chervel Chervel Chervel Chervel Chervel Cherv			

- 5. You are now ready to Desktop Spy on any Windows Desktop Application.
- 6. Mouse over any element of the Windows Desktop Application and click keyboard left ctrl to populate element attributes.
- 7. Let us Desktop Spy Microsoft Word Windows Application.
- 8. Mouse over any element of the word document and click keyboard left ctrl to populate element attributes.

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.

9. For Example, mouse over Change Styles and click keyboard left ctrl to populate values on Desktop Spy, as shown below.



10. In the following example, Mouse-over is done on the save icon.

🙈 AutomationEdge Process Studio - Read			<u> </u>
File Edit View Action Tools Help			
🕒 🗠 🛄 🔤 😻 📽 🖬 🖾	12	Read 22	1
Search	L 8= 4	⊙ •    ○ ◇ ◇ • ○ ◇ □ □ 100% •	4
By Workspece - Tutorials     Byy     Byy     Workflows and Processes     Becktop Spy     Pectop Spy			
(B. 15. (18)-11)	191	AutomationEdge Desktop Spy  Press CTRL key and hover mouse over any element.  Acceleration	
Steps		Alternatives: Louton("Save current file")	
Active Directory     OCR     OCR     AirWatch		- Value: Save current file Prefix: popup:AutomationEdge Process Studio - Read Mode: WTNDOWS	
BMC Remedy			
BMC Remedy (REST)			
CAPTCHA			
Cherwell			
Desktop			
Exchange Server			
Google Spreadsheets			~
Intune Intune			

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.



11. The values of Accessor, Alternatives or Prefix can be used in plugin steps as required.12. We can also select Accessor and Alternatives from the drop-down as shown below.

ㅅ AutomationEdge Process Studio - Read					
Eile Edit View Action Tools Help					
Project Explorer	🖂 🛞 Rez	ad 22 be			
Search	t; 8= 4		🗞 🛃 100% 🔻		
Workspace - Tutorials  Workspace - Tutorials  Desktop Spy  Read.paw  Note: Web Spy  Resources		Automation Press CTRU	idge Desktop Spy key and hover mouse over any element	1. D 20	
🕄 View 🧷 Design	123	Accessor:	• button("Save current file")	ů	
Steps	1 8=	Alternative	s:button("Save current file")	✓	
		Profix: Mode:	sove content tie popuplastometionEdge Process Stu WINDOWS	dio - Read	
Steps     Active Directory       b     Active Directory       b     OCR       b     Active Directory       b     OCR       b     Active Directory       c     BMC Remedy (REST)       b     CAPTCHA       b     Cherwell       b     Desktop       b     Exchange Server       b     Google Spreadsheets       b     Intune		Alternativ Value: Prefix: Mode:	s: Dattor("Save current file") Save current file popup:AutomationEdge Process Stu WINDOWS	dio - Read	

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

13. The Value field in Desktop Spy shows the shows predicted output Value/Text of the Desktop Read plugin. The value of the text box highlighted in red is seen in the image below.

🔨 AutomationEdge Process Studio - Read			e II
Eile Edit View Action Tools Help			
Project Explorer	12	Read 2	
Search	6 == 49	⊙ • II ♀ ⋈ • O ⊘ C □ B □ 100% •	à
		AutomationEdge Desktop Spy	
R View Design	ोस्त	Accessor: ** textbox("1001")	
Steps	E 8=	Alternatives: textbox("1001")	
Active Directory     Active Directory     Active Directory     Active Derectory     Active Derectory     Active Derectory     BMC Remedy (REST)     BMC Remedy (REST)     CAPTCHA     Desktop     Desktop     Exchange Server     Google Spreadsheets		Prefix: popup: AutomationEdge Process Studio - Read Mode: WINDOWS	-

14. Similarly, you may continue Desktop Spy on other Windows applications.

	Refer to Project 8: Desktop Spy in
<u>A</u>	AutomationEdge_ProcessStudio_Activity_Guide_R7.0.0 for a sample
Note:	workflow 'RemoteDesktop' - with steps to identify elements with Desktop Spy.

## 4 Appendix 4: Surface Spy Tutorial

### 4.1 Introduction

Process Studio Surface Spy is used to capture images/regions on the screen. Locate this image based on a matching pattern specified. It is advantageous on remote machines with no handle to the content, and everything is an image or pattern.



### 4.2 Start Using Surface Spy

Follow the steps below to set up and use Surface Spy.

- 1. Open Process Studio.
- 2. In this demo, In Spy Project, create a folder Surface Spy. The Surface Spy folder is visible in the workspace as below.
- 3. To launch Surface Spy, click Tools $\rightarrow$ Spy  $\rightarrow$ Surface Spy menu option.

AutomationEdge Proces	s Studio - GUISpy_Web_Demo					
File Edit View Action	ools <u>H</u> elp					
	Options	- í			 	
Search	Sync Plugins					
	Spy	>	Desktop Spy	CTRL+ALT+D		
v 😔 Workspace - Tutoria	Show plugin information		Surface Spy	CTRL+ALT+S		
✓ ➡ Workflows and	Check for Updates	4	GUI Spy	CTRL+ALT+W		
🖻 Desktop Sp	Clear all browser instances					
Surface Spy						

4. A warning message to create a workflow displays. The default workflow name is Workflow\_1. Click OK.

5. Surface Spy opens in the foreground to Process Studio as seen in the snapshot below.



6. The two icons on Surface Spy are explained below and implemented in the steps that follow.

Icon on Surface Spy	Description
•	On hovering over the icon it shows the name of the icon - Capture Image
	<ul> <li>If you click on the drop down arrow it shows three options,</li> <li>Capture now <ul> <li>If you click on the Capture Image icon or select Capture now from the drop down list, you see a + mouse pointer that can be used to outline any area on the screen.</li> </ul> </li> <li>Capture in 3 Seconds <ul> <li>If you select Capture in 3 Seconds from the drop down list you see a + mouse pointer after 3 seconds, that can be used to outline any area on the screen</li> </ul> </li> <li>Capture in 10 Seconds <ul> <li>If you select Capture in 10 Seconds from the drop down list you see a + mouse pointer after 10 seconds, that can be used to outline any area on the screen</li> </ul> </li> </ul>

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.



Icon on Surface Spy	Description
	This is useful if the area to outline is not on the screen immediately but you need less than 3 or 10 seconds as
	mentioned in the two points above, to navigate to a desired
	screen.
0	On hovering over the icon, it shows the name of the icon -
Ŧ	Locate images
	Once you outline an area using Capture Image, the next
	step is to Locate Images. Clicking on Locate images icon
	searches for matching patterns(/images) based on the
	Matching Pattern selection from:
	Retrieve Single closest match
	Retrieve Multiple close matches
	Retrieve All matches

7. Capture Image on the paint document as shown in the screenshot below. Let us assume the image on the top left corner to be the base image with a size 100%. The images on the right are smaller images with 10% reduction in size each. The images in the bottom row are in ascending order of size ascending by 10% each.



8. Once you capture an image or pattern, the AutomationEdge Surface Spy window expands, as shown below. In this case, we have captured the third image from the left in



AutomationEdge	Surface Spy - v0.2		
i @ • O			
100000000000000000000000000000000000000			
	?	Generate Step	
		Action	Click
	1	Click Type	Click
		Position	Centre
		Image Index	0
		Timeout	5
		Match Pattern	Retrieve Single closest match
			(Franka)
	*		Generat
( <b>4</b> )	2		

- 9. Generate Step configuration screen options differ depending on the Action chosen.
- 10. The following screen shows the Generate Step configuration options when Action chosen is Click as seen above also.

AutomationEdge Surface Spy - v0.2				Σ
<u></u>				
Step Options	*	Generate Step		
		Action	Click	•
		Click Type	Click	•
		Position	Centre	•
		Image Index	0	
		Timeout	5	<b>+</b> (5)
		Match Pattern	Retrieve Single closest match	•
			Ger	erate
	π 1			

 $\ensuremath{\textcircled{\sc 0}}$  2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

11. The following screen shows the Generate Step configuration options when Action chosen is Action Set Value

AutomationEdge Surface Spy - v0.2				23
Step Options	*	Generate Step		
5 <b>5</b> 50		Action	Set Value	•
		Value		- (5)
		Input Type	Туре	•
		Position	Left	•
		Image Index	0	
		Timeout	5	÷ (5)
		Match Pattern	Retrieve Single closest mate	:h ▼
*				ienerate

12. The following screen shows the Generate Step configuration options when Action chosen is Action Get Value

AutomationEdge Surface Spy - v0.2			<u></u>				
· •							
Step Options	*	* Generate Step					
		Action	Get Value 🔹				
		Output field name					
		Position	Custom				
		Image Index	0				
		Timeout	5 👻 🕄				
		Match Pattern	Retrieve Single closest match 🔹				
			Generate				
<	*						

13. The following screen shows the Generate Step configuration options when Action chosen is Action Find Image.

AutomationEdge Surface Spy - v0.2			22
- <u>o</u> - O			
Step Options	*	Generate Step	
		Action	Find Image 🔹
		Output field name	
		Timeout	5 🚽 🕥
		Match Pattern	Retrieve Single closest match 🔹
			Generate
4	+		

14. The following table summarizes all the Generate step options for all Actions types.

AutomationEdge

Table: Surface Spy Generate Step Options

No.	Option	Desc	ription	
1	Action	The A availa	Action Drop Dov able.	wn has the following options
		No	Click Types	Description
		1	Click	It performs a click action.
		2	Set Value	It performs Set Value on a region/image.
		3	Get Value	It Gets Value from a region/image.
		4	Find Image	It checks for an image and returns true or false.
2	Click Type	The C availa Click.	Click Type Drop able. This optior	Down has the following options n is available if Action chosen in
		No	Click Types	Description
		1	Click	It performs left click action.
		2	Right Click	It performs right click action.
		3	Double Click	It performs double-click action.
		4	Middle Click	It performs left Middle click action.
		5	Mouse Move	It performs Mouse Move action.
3	Value	Spec	ify a Value to be	e set on a region/image.
4	Output field name (for Action Get Value)	This f Value from	ield is active when a field is active a field is active a field	nen the Action chosen is Get Id name to hold the value retrieved
			arogioni	
5	Output field name (for Action Find Image)	This f Image value not.	ield is active wh e. Provide a fie (Y/N) indicating	nen the Action chosen is Find Id name to hold a Boolean I whether the image was found or

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved. This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.



No.	Option	Desc	ription	
6	Position	The F Perfo selec	Position Drop Do rm the Action c ted here.	own has the following options. hosen above at the position
		No	Positions	Description
		1	Left	Center Left position of the Image.
		2	Right	Center Right position of the Image.
		3	Center	Center of the Image.
		4	Custom	The relative position from the entire Image, it could be anywhere on the screen. If the relative position of the relative element to click is closer, it is preferable.
7	Image Index	Image the se	e Index is retrie elected images.	ved once an image is clicked from
8	Timeout	Spec defau	ify this is the Tir Ilt, timeout is 5 s	meout for step execution. By seconds
9	Match Pattern	The N option	Match Pattern D ns available. Retrieve Sing Retrieve Mult Retrieve All c	rop Down has the following le closest match iple close matches lose match
10	Button: Generate	Click config	Generate butto gurations above	n to generate the step with the

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved. This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.



15. The Match Pattern drop-down field has the following options as shown below,

- Retrieve Single closest match
- Retrieve Multiple close matches
- Retrieve All close match

	Generate Step		
		Action	
		Click Type Click	
		Position Centre	
	1	Image Index 0	
		Timeout 5	- 0
	M	atch Pattern Retrieve Single cl	losest match
	*	Retrieve Multiple Retrieve All matc	close matches hes
e			

16. Once you outline an area using Capture Image the next step is to Locate Images. Clicking on Locate images icon searches for matching images (/patterns) depending on the Match Pattern chosen as mentioned above.



17. Let us select Retrieve Single closest match in the match Pattern drop down. Now click on Locate Images ( ) icon. It gives an error Multiple Match Found as it has found more than one close matches.

We Click on an image to select and press Esc key to exit.

$\mathbf{\tilde{x}} \mathbf{\tilde{x}} \mathbf{\tilde{x}}$	AutomationEdge Surface Spy - v0.2	?
	Image Index 0     0	5
Butterflies	Timeout   3 + 00 Match Pattern (fletnieve Single closest match v Cenerate	

18. Let us select Retrieve Multiple close matches in the match Pattern drop down. Now click





19. Let us select Retrieve All matches in the match Pattern drop down. Now click on Locate Images ( ) icon. It locates All Matches as seen below (not below 50% or above 150% of the original size).



20. In this section we saw, how Surface Spy is used Capture and Locate Images and the various options available.

### 4.3 Close Surface Spy

1. You may click the X button on the AutomationEdge Surface Spy window to close Surface Spy.



© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved.

2. You may also click X on the expanded AutomationEdge Surface Spy window to close Surface Spy.

AutomationEdge Surface S	y - v0.2	-
o • 🔿		
	Generate Step	
	Action Click	
	Click Type Click	
	Position Centre	
	Image Index 0	
	Timeout 5	
	Match Pattern Retrieve Single closest ma	tch
		Generat
(e		

3. Surface Spy also closes when you close Process Studio.

Refer Project 8: Surface Spy in
 AutomationEdge\_ProcessStudio\_Activity\_Guide\_R7.0.0 for a sample workflow using Surface Spy.

This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.







# AutomationEdge Technologies Inc



General: info@automationedge.com

Support: support@automationedge.com

Trainings: training.support@automationedge.com



Website: https://automationedge.com



India: +91-20-6632-1000 USA: +1-281-220-1057

© 2021 AutomationEdge Inc All Rights Reserved. This document is for your company's internal use only and may not be distributed to any third party.